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Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: From time to time after the effective date of this Registration Statement,
as determined by the selling shareholders.

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are being offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the
Securities Act of 1933, check the following box. x

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box and
list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. ~

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities
Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities
Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See definitions of large accelerated filer,  accelerated filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check
one):

Large accelerated filer - Accelerated filer X
Non-accelerated filer " (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company

The registrant hereby amends this registration statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the
registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this registration statement shall thereafter become effective in
accordance with Section 8(c) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until the registration statement shall become effective on such date as the
Securities and Exchange Commission acting pursuant to said Section 8(c), may determine.
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EXPLANATORY NOTE

This Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-163976) (the Registration Statement ) of
TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. (the Company ), is being filed pursuant to the undertakings in Item 17 of the Registration Statement to update and
supplement the information contained in the Registration Statement, which was previously declared effective by the Securities and Exchange
Commission on January 7, 2010, to (i) incorporate by reference the information in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2009 (the Annual Report ) that was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 31, 2010,

(ii) incorporate by reference the Current Report of the Company on Form 8-K dated December 21, 2009, and filed on December 28, 2009 as
amended by Amendment No. 1 on Form 8-K/A filed on January 7, 2010, (iii) incorporate by reference the Current Report of the Company on
Form 8-K dated January 7, 2010 and filed on January 13, 2010, and (iv) update certain other information contained in the Registration

Statement.

No additional securities are being registered under this Post-Effective Amendment. All applicable registration fees were paid at the time of the
original filing of the Registration Statement. Accordingly, we hereby amend the Registration Statement by filing this Post-Effective
Amendment, which relates to the registration of 42,838,451 common shares, $0.01 par value per share, being registered for resale by the selling
shareholders listed herein.
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The information contained in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. The selling shareholders named in this prospectus
may not sell these securities until the post-effective amendment to the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in
any state or jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted.

Subject to completion, dated April 29, 2010

Prospectus

42,838,451 shares

TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.

Common Shares

The selling shareholders named in this prospectus may use this prospectus to offer and sell from time to time up to 42,838,451 of our common
shares. We will not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of our common shares by the selling shareholders. This prospectus does not cover
the issuance of any common shares by us to the selling shareholders.

Except for underwriting discounts and selling commissions, which may be paid by the selling shareholders, we have agreed to pay the expenses
incurred in connection with the registration of the common shares covered by this prospectus.

The selling shareholders may sell the common shares from time to time at market prices prevailing at the time of sale, prices related to

prevailing market prices or privately negotiated prices. The selling shareholders may sell the common shares to or through underwriters, brokers
or dealers or directly to purchasers. Underwriters, brokers or dealers may receive discounts, commissions or concessions from the selling
shareholders, purchasers in connection with sales of the common shares, or both. Additional information relating to the distribution of the
common shares by the selling shareholders can be found in this prospectus under the heading Plan of Distribution. If underwriters or dealers are
involved in the sale of any securities offered by this prospectus, their names, and any applicable purchase price, fee, commission or discount
arrangement between or among them, will be set forth, or will be calculable from the information set forth, in a supplement to this prospectus.

Our common shares are traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol TNP and are traded on the NYSE Amex under the symbol
TAT . On April 28, 2010, the closing price of our common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange was Cdn$3.79, and the closing price for our
common shares on the NYSE Amex was $3.76 per share.

Investing in our common shares involves risks. See _Risk Factors beginning on page 3.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or
determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus is [ ], 2010.
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You should rely only on the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus and any applicable prospectus
supplement or amendment. We have not, and the selling shareholders have not, authorized any person to provide you with different
information. This prospectus is not an offer to sell, nor is it an offer to buy, these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not
permitted. The information in this prospectus is complete and accurate as of the date on the front cover, but the information may have
changed since that date.

ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

This prospectus is part of a registration statement that we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC )usinga shelf
registration process. Under this shelf registration process, the selling shareholders referred to in this prospectus may offer and sell from time to
time up to 42,838,451 outstanding common shares.

Information about the selling shareholders may change over time. Any changed information given to us by the selling shareholders will be set
forth in a prospectus supplement if and when necessary. Further, in some cases, the selling shareholders will also be required to provide a
prospectus supplement containing specific information about the terms on which they are offering and selling our common shares. If a
prospectus supplement is provided and the description of the offering in the prospectus supplement varies from the information in this
prospectus, you should rely on the information in the prospectus supplement.

Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this prospectus to TransAtlantic, we, us, and our are to TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and it
subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. All referencesto $ or dollars in this prospectus refer to U.S. dollars, unless otherwise indicated. Canadian
dollars is abbreviated Cdn$ and Australian dollars is abbreviated AUDS$.
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SUMMARY

This summary highlights information about this offering and the information included or incorporated by reference in this prospectus. This
summary does not contain all of the information that you should consider before investing in our common shares. You should carefully read the
entire prospectus, especially the risks of investing in our common shares discussed under Risk Factors in this prospectus, any accompanying
prospectus supplement and the documents incorporated herein by reference before making an investment decision.

TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.

TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. is a vertically integrated, international oil and gas company engaged in the acquisition, development, exploration,
and production of crude oil and natural gas. We hold interests in developed and undeveloped oil and gas properties in Turkey, Morocco,
Romania, and California. In addition, we provide oilfield services and contract drilling services to third parties in Turkey and plan to provide
similar services in Morocco.

We underwent a strategic transformation during 2008 as a result of a series of transactions with N. Malone Mitchell, 3rd, chairman of our board
of directors. Mr. Mitchell founded Riata Energy, Inc. in 1985 and built it into one of the largest privately held oil and gas producers in the United
States. In 2006, Mr. Mitchell sold his controlling interest in Riata Energy, Inc. (now Sandridge Energy, Inc.) and founded a group of companies
that are primarily focused on investing in international energy opportunities.

We were incorporated under the laws of British Columbia, Canada on October 1, 1985 under the name Profco Resources Ltd. and continued to
the jurisdiction of Alberta, Canada under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) on June 10, 1997. Effective December 2, 1998, we changed
our name to TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp. Effective October 1, 2009, we continued to the jurisdiction of Bermuda under the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda from the Province of Alberta and changed our name to TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. Our common shares trade on the Toronto
Stock Exchange in Canadian dollars under the symbol TNP and on the NYSE Amex in U.S. dollars under the symbol TAT . Our principal
executive office is located at 5910 N. Central Expressway, Suite 1755, Dallas, Texas 75206. Our telephone number is (214) 220-4323. Our
website address is www.transatlanticpetroleum.com. Except for any documents that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus that may
be accessed from our website, the information available on or through our website is not part of this prospectus.

The Offering
Common shares offered by the selling shareholders 42,838,451 shares
Selling shareholders All of the common shares are being offered by the selling

shareholders named herein. This prospectus does not offer for sale
any common shares beneficially owned by our affiliates. See Selling
Shareholders for more information on the selling shareholders.

Use of proceeds We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of the common shares
in this offering.

Plan of distribution The selling shareholders named in this prospectus, or their pledgees,
donees, transferees or other successors-in-interest, may offer or sell
the common shares from time to time through public or private
transactions at prevailing market prices, at prices related to prevailing
market prices or at privately negotiated prices. The selling
shareholders may resell the common shares to or through
underwriters, broker-dealers or agents, who may receive
compensation in the form of discounts, concessions, or commissions.
For additional information on the methods of sale that may be used
by the selling shareholders, see Plan of Distribution.
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RISK FACTORS

Investors should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties and all other information contained or incorporated by reference in this

prospectus, including the risks and uncertainties discussed under Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31, 2009. All of these Risk Factors are incorporated by reference herein in their entirety. These risks and uncertainties are not the only
ones facing us. Additional risks of which we are not presently aware or that we currently believe are immaterial may also harm our business and
results of operations. The trading price of our common shares could decline due to the occurrence of any of these risks, and investors could lose

all or part of their investment. In assessing these risks, investors should also refer to the information contained or incorporated by reference in

our other filings with the SEC.

INFORMATION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this prospectus are forward-looking statements and are prospective. Forward-looking statements are typically

identified by words such as anticipate, believe, expect, plan, intend, project, estimate, continue or similar words suggesting future o
statements regarding an outlook. Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors which could cause actual

results to differ materially from future results expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.

The following factors, among others, could cause actual results to differ from those set forth in the forward-looking statements: market prices for
natural gas, natural gas liquids and oil products; estimates of reserves and economic assumptions; the ability to produce and transport natural
gas, natural gas liquids and oil; the results of exploration and development drilling and related activities; the global economic crisis and
economic conditions in the countries and provinces in which we carry on business, especially economic slowdowns; actions by governmental
authorities including increases in taxes, changes in environmental and other regulations, and renegotiations of contracts; political uncertainty,
including actions by insurgent groups or other conflict; the negotiation and closing of material contracts; and the other factors discussed in other
documents that we file with or furnish to the SEC. The impact of any one factor on a particular forward-looking statement is not determinable
with certainty, as such factors are interdependent upon other factors. In that regard, any statements as to future natural gas or oil production
levels; capital expenditures; the allocation of capital expenditures to exploration and development activities; sources of funding for our capital
program; drilling of new wells; demand for natural gas and oil products; expenditures and allowances relating to environmental matters; dates by
which certain areas will be developed or will come on-stream; expected finding and development costs; future production rates; ultimate
recoverability of reserves; dates by which transactions are expected to close; cash flows; uses of cash flows; collectibility of receivables;
availability of trade credit; expected operating costs; changes in any of the foregoing and other statements using forward-looking terminology
are forward-looking statements.

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, as there can be no assurance that the plans, intentions or
expectations upon which they are based will occur. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve numerous assumptions, known and
unknown risks and uncertainties, both general and specific, that contribute to the possibility that the predictions, forecasts, projections and other
things contemplated by the forward-looking statements will not occur.

Forward-looking statements in this prospectus are based on management s beliefs and opinions at the time the statements are made. The
forward-looking statements contained in this prospectus are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement. The
forward-looking statements included in this prospectus are made as of the date of this prospectus and we undertake no obligation to publicly
update or revise any forward-looking statements to reflect new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by applicable
securities laws.

USE OF PROCEEDS

We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of our common shares by the selling shareholders under this prospectus. The proceeds from the
resale of the common shares under this prospectus are solely for the account of the selling shareholders.
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SELLING SHAREHOLDERS

We entered into a Registration Rights Agreement (the Registration Rights Agreement ) dated November 24, 2009, with Canaccord Capital
Corporation ( Canaccord ) and Dalea Partners, LP ( Dalea ), pursuant to which we agreed to register for resale certain of our common shares owned
by the selling shareholders named below and to indemnify the selling shareholders against certain liabilities related to the selling of such

common shares, including liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act ). Under the Registration Rights
Agreement, we also agreed to pay the expenses associated with preparing and filing this registration statement; however, the selling shareholders

will pay any legal fees, expenses, commissions or other expenses relating to the sale of their common shares.

The selling shareholders acquired the common shares on November 24, 2009 either in an offering conducted outside the United States in
compliance with Regulation S under the Securities Act or inside the United States in compliance with Regulation D under the Securities Act.
The common shares being offered hereby are being registered to permit public secondary trading. The selling shareholders may offer all or part
of the common shares for resale from time to time. However, the selling shareholders are under no obligation to sell all or any portion of the
common shares, nor are the selling shareholders obligated to sell any common shares immediately under this prospectus.

The following table sets forth the names of the selling shareholders, the number of common shares beneficially owned by them as of

December 16, 2009, the number of common shares being offered by them, the number of common shares each selling shareholder will
beneficially own if the shareholder sells all of the common shares being registered and the selling shareholder s percentage ownership of our total
outstanding common shares if all the common shares in the offering are sold. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with Rule
13d-3(d) promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act ). The percentage of common
shares beneficially owned after the offering is based on 303,245,456 common shares outstanding as of December 16, 2009. As used in this
prospectus, selling shareholders includes the successors-in-interest, donees, transferees or others who may later hold the selling shareholders
interests.

All information with respect to share ownership has been furnished by or on behalf of the selling shareholders and is as of the date of this
prospectus. We believe, based on information supplied by the selling shareholders and subject to community property laws where applicable,
that except as may otherwise be indicated in the footnotes to the table below, each selling shareholder has sole voting and dispositive power with
respect to the common shares reported as beneficially owned by them. Because the selling shareholders may sell all, part or none of their
common shares, no estimates can be given as to the number of common shares that will be held by each selling shareholder upon termination of
any offering made hereby. For purposes of the table below, however, we have assumed that after termination of this offering, none of the
common shares offered by this prospectus will be held by the selling shareholders.

None of the selling shareholders has had any position with, held any office of, or had any other material relationship with us during the past
three years.
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Selling Shareholders

1233171 Alberta Ltd. (2)

1991 Investment Company (3)

2035718 Ontario Inc. (4)

Adaly Opportunity Fund (5)

Adelphi Emerging Europe Fund (9)

Alex Cumming

Alex Glasenberg

Apogee Fund L.P. (10)

Ascend Partners Fund I LP (11)

Ascend Partners Fund I, Ltd. (11)

Ascend Partners Fund II LP (11)

Ascend Partners Fund II, Ltd. (11)

Atlas Allocation Fund L.P. (13)

BMO Guardian Global Energy Fund (14)

BMO Resource Fund (14)

BP Capital Energy Equity Fund Master II, LP (18)
BP Capital Energy Equity Fund, LP (18)

BP Capital Energy Equity International Holdings I, LP (18)
Bruce S. Simmonds

Cato Partners Management LLC (20)
Crossway Partners Master Fund LP (21)
Cumber International S.A. (22)

Cumberland Benchmarked Partners, L.P. (22)
Cumberland Partners (22)

Cumming Construction Ltd. (26)

David Bruce Dyck

Don Jack

Fidelity Canadian Asset Allocation Fund (27)
Fidelity Canadian Disciplined Equity Fund (27)
Fidelity Contrafund: Fidelity Advisor New Insights
Fund (27)

Fidelity Contrafund: Fidelity Contrafund (27)
Fidelity Global Equity Open Fund (29)

Fidelity Global Fund (27)

Fidelity Global Natural Resources Fund (27)
Gary West (30)

Ian Cathery

IG FI Canadian Asset Allocation Fund (27)

IG FI Canadian Equity Class (27)

IG FI Canadian Equity Fund (27)

Ironman Energy Master Fund (34)

James Thomson

JANA Partners LLC (35)

JLD Investment Corporation (36)

Johnathan Bodnar Kachuk

Kurt Andrew Roberts

Longview Partners B, L.P. (22)

Los Angeles Board of Admin. of Water & Power
Employees Retirement, Disability & Death Benefit Plan
27
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Number of
Common
Shares Owned
Before the
Offering

20,000
105,000
45,000
750,200(6)
623,828
10,000
20,000
1,000,000
1,350,000(12)
1,350,000(12)
1,350,000(12)
1,350,000(12)
631,000
1,391,300(15)
1,391,300(15)
2,000,000(19)
2,000,000(19)
2,000,000(19)
10,000
1,007,000
500,000
3,648,400(23)
3,648,400(23)
3,648,400(23)
20,000
5,000
10,000
20,828,151(27)
20,828,151(27)

20,828,151(27)
20,828,151(27)
18,100
20,828,151(27)
20,828,151(27)
1,813,600(31)
45,000
20,828,151(27)
20,828,151(27)
20,828,151(27)
70,000
10,000
6,383,000
5,000
500
2,000
3,648,400(23)

20,828,151(27)

Number of
Common
Shares Being
Offered

20,000
40,000
45,000
300,000(7)
620,000
10,000
20,000
200,000
1,350,000(12)
1,350,000(12)
1,350,000(12)
1,350,000(12)
450,000
1,375,000(16)
1,375,000(16)
2,000,000(19)
2,000,000(19)
2,000,000(19)
10,000
200,000
500,000
750,000(24)
750,000(24)
750,000(24)
20,000
5,000
10,000
11,745,051(28)
11,745,051(28)

11,745,051(28)
11,745,051(28)
18,100
11,745,051(28)
11,745,051(28)
200,000(32)
45,000
11,745,051(28)
11,745,051(28)
11,745,051(28)
70,000
10,000
6,383,000
5,000
500
2,000
750,000(24)

11,745,051(28)

Number of
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Shares Owned
After the
Offering (1)

0

65,000

0

450,200(8)

3,828

0

0

800,000

0

0

0

0

181,000
16,300(17)
16,300(17)

0

0

0

0

807,000

0
2,898,400(25)
2,898,400(25)
2,898,400(25)

0

0

0

9,083,100

9,083,100

9,083,100
9,083,100

0
9,083,100
9,083,100
1,613,600(33)

0
9,083,100
9,083,100
9,083,100
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0
2,898,400(25)

9,083,100

Percentage
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Common
Shares
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After the
Offering

0

*

0

S

S O OO
*
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1.0%
1.0%
1.0%

3.0%
3.0%

3.0%
3.0%

3.0%
3.0%

3.0%
3.0%
3.0%
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3.0%
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Mary West (30)

Midsummer Investment, Ltd. (37)

Minnesota State Board of Investment (27)
MSD Energy Investments, L.P. (38)

Ohio Police & Fire Pension Fund (27)
Quantum Partners Ltd. (39)

Ralph Gerstein

RCH Energy Opportunity Fund III, LP (40)
Schroder International Selection Fund Global Energy Fund
(43)

Seabright Investment Consultants Inc. (44)
Shirley Battison

State Board of Administration of Florida (27)
The Strategic Opportunities Master Fund (5)
The Strategic Retirement Fund (5)
Washington State Investment Board (27)
William Allan Coleman
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1,813,600(31)
20,000
20,828,151(27)
15,000,000
20,828,151(27)
2,700,000
90,000
3,431,045(41)

10,638,300
10,000
10,000

20,828,151(27)

750,200(6)
750,200(6)
20,828,151(27)
500

200,000(32)
20,000
11,745,051(28)

2,766,000
11,745,051(28)
2,000,000
90,000
900,000

10,638,300
10,000
10,000

11,745,051(28)

300,000(7)
300,000(7)
11,745,051(28)
500

1,613,600(33)
0
9,083,100
12,234,000
9,083,100
700,000
0

2,531,045(42)

0

0

0

9,083,100
450,200(8)
450,200(8)

9,083,100

0

3.0%
4.0%
3.0%
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Less than 1%

Represents the number of common shares that will be beneficially owned by the selling shareholders after completion of this offering
based on the assumptions that: (i) all of the common shares registered for resale by the registration statement of which this prospectus is
part will be sold and (ii) no other common shares will be acquired or sold by the selling shareholders prior to completion of this offering.
However, the selling shareholders may sell all, part or none of their common shares offered pursuant to this prospectus and may sell some
or all of their common shares pursuant to one or more exemptions from the registration provisions of the Securities Act.

Lee Simpson, as director and sole shareholder of 1233171 Alberta Ltd., has sole voting and dispositive power over the common shares
held by 1233171 Alberta Ltd.

Paul Brett Combs, as the trustee of LC Vose 1965 Trust FBO Charles Vose, the general partner of 1991 Investment Company, has sole
voting and dispositive power over the common shares held by 1991 Investment Company.

Richard Kung, as president of 2035718 Ontario Inc., has sole voting and dispositive power over the common shares held by 2035718
Ontario Inc.

Adaly Investment Management Corp. serves as the investment advisor and manager of Adaly Opportunity Fund and investment advisor of
The Strategic Opportunities Master Fund and The Strategic Retirement Fund. Martin Braun, the president of Adaly Investment
Management Corp., has sole voting and dispositive power over the common shares held by Adaly Opportunity Fund, The Strategic
Opportunities Master Fund and The Strategic Retirement Fund.

Includes (i) 246,800 common shares held by Adaly Opportunity Fund, (ii) 450,500 common shares held by The Strategic Opportunities
Master Fund and (iii) 52,900 common shares held by The Strategic Retirement Fund.

Includes (i) 98,800 common shares held by Adaly Opportunity Fund, (ii) 180,000 common shares held by The Strategic Opportunities
Master Fund and (iii) 21,200 common shares held by The Strategic Retirement Fund.

Includes (i) 148,000 common shares held by Adaly Opportunity Fund, (ii) 270,500 common shares held by The Strategic Opportunities
Master Fund and (iii) 31,700 common shares held by The Strategic Retirement Fund.

Lars Dollmann, as portfolio manager of Adelphi Emerging Europe Fund, has sole voting and dispositive power over the common shares
held by Adelphi Emerging Europe Fund.

Emmett M. Murphy, as general partner of Apogee Fund L.P., has sole voting and dispositive power over the common shares held by
Apogee Fund L.P.

Ascend Capital LLC is the sole general partner of Ascend Capital Limited Partnership, which is the sole general partner of Ascend
Partners Fund I LP and Ascend Partners Fund II LP and is the sole investment manager of Ascend Partners Fund I, Ltd. and Ascend
Partners Fund II, Ltd. Malcom Fairbairn, as Chief Investment Officer of Ascend Capital LLC, has sole voting and dispositive power over
the common shares held by each of Ascend Partners Fund I LP, Ascend Partners Fund I, Ltd., Ascend Partners Fund II LP and Ascend
Partners Fund II, Ltd.

Includes (i) 4,780 common shares held by Ascend Partners Fund I LP, (ii) 50,290 common shares held by Ascend Partners Fund I, Ltd.,
(iii) 325,836 common shares held by Ascend Partners Fund II LP and (iv) 969,094 common shares held by Ascend Partners Fund II, Ltd.
Atlas Capital Management is the general partner of Atlas Allocation Fund L.P. Robert H. Alpert, as the president of RHA. Inc., the general
partner of Atlas Capital Management, has sole voting and dispositive power over the common shares held by Atlas Allocation Fund L.P.
BMO Guardian Global Energy Fund and BMO Resource Fund are indirect subsidiaries of BMO Nesbitt Burns, a registered broker-dealer.
These common shares were purchased by BMO Guardian Global Energy Fund and BMO Resource Fund in the ordinary course of business
and, at the time of purchase, BMO Guardian Global Energy Fund and BMO Resource Fund had no agreements or understandings, directly
or indirectly, with any person to distribute the common shares. Jones Heward, as portfolio advisor to each of BMO Guardian Global
Energy Fund and BMO Resource Fund, has sole voting and dispositive power over the common shares held by BMO Guardian Global
Energy Fund and BMO Resource Fund.
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(15) Includes (i) 40,300 common shares held by BMO Guardian Global Energy Fund and (ii) 1,351,000 common shares held by BMO
Resource Fund.

(16) Includes (i) 24,000 common shares held by BMO Guardian Global Energy Fund and (ii) 1,351,000 common shares held by BMO
Resource Fund.

(17) Includes 16,300 common shares held by BMO Guardian Global Energy Fund.

(18) T. Boone Pickens, as president and chief executive officer, and Ronald D. Bassett and Robert L. Stillwell as managing directors, of BP
Capital Management, L.P., the general partner of each of BP Capital Energy Equity Fund, LP, BP Capital Energy Equity Fund Master II,
LP and BP Capital Energy Equity International Holdings I, LP, share voting and dispositive power over the common shares held by BP
Capital Energy Equity Fund, LP, BP Capital Energy Equity Fund Master II, LP and BP Capital Energy Equity International Holdings I,
LP.

(19) Includes (i) 1,080,000 common shares held by BP Capital Energy Equity Fund, LP, (ii) 840,000 common shares held by BP Capital
Energy Equity Fund Master II, LP and (iii) 80,000 common shares held by BP Capital Energy Equity International Holdings I, LP.

(20) Derk Cullinan, as managing member of Cato Partners Management LLC, has sole voting and dispositive power over the common shares
held by Cato Partners Management LLC.

(21) Evan Claar, as managing member of CBI Capital LLC, the general partner of Crossway Partners Master Fund LP, has sole voting and
dispositive power over the common shares held by Crossway Partners Master Fund LP.

(22) Gary Tynes, as the chief financial officer of Cumberland Associates LLC, the financial advisor to Cumber International S.A., has sole
voting and dispositive power over the common shares held by Cumber International S.A. Mr. Tynes, as a member of Cumberland
Benchmarked GP LLC, the general partner of Cumberland Benchmarked Partners, L.P., has sole voting and dispositive power over the
common shares held by Cumberland Benchmarked Partners, L.P. Mr. Tynes, as a member of Cumberland GP LLC, the general partner of
Cumberland Partners, has sole voting and dispositive power over the common shares held by Cumberland Partners. Mr. Tynes, as a
member of Longview B GP LLC, the general partner of Longview Partners B, L.P., has sole voting and dispositive power over the
common shares held by Longview Partners B, L.P.

(23) Includes (i) 223,771 shares held by Cumber International S.A., (ii) 907,241 shares held by Cumberland Benchmarked Partners, L.P.,

(iii) 1,923,545 shares held by Cumberland Partners and (iv) 593,843 shares held by Longview Partners B, L.P.

(24) Includes (i) 45,552 shares held by Cumber International S.A., (ii) 187,107 shares held by Cumberland Benchmarked Partners, L.P.,
(iii) 393,874 shares held by Cumberland Partners and (iv) 123,467 shares held by Longview Partners B, L.P.

(25) Includes (i) 178,219 shares held by Cumber International S.A., (ii) 720,134 shares held by Cumberland Benchmarked Partners, L.P.,
(iii) 1,529,671 shares held by Cumberland Partners and (iv) 470,376 shares held by Longview Partners B, L.P.

(26) Tom Cumming, as owner of Cumming Construction Ltd., has sole voting and dispositive power over the common shares held by
Cumming Construction Ltd.

(27) FMR LLC, 82 Devonshire Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02109, acting through its subsidiaries, is the beneficial owner of 20,828,151
common shares. Fidelity Management & Research Company ( Fidelity ), a wholly-owned subsidiary of FMR LLC and an investment
adviser registered under Section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, is the beneficial owner of 10,722,051 of our common shares
as a result of acting as investment adviser to various investment companies registered under Section 8§ of the Investment Company Act of
1940. Pyramis Global Advisors, LLC ( PGALLC ), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of FMR LLC and an investment adviser registered
under Section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, is the beneficial owner of 9,798,900 of our common shares as a result of it
serving as investment adviser to institutional accounts, non-U.S. mutual funds and investment companies registered under Section 8 of the
Investment Company Act of 1940 owning such shares. Pyramis Global Advisors Trust Company ( PGATC ), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of FMR LLC and a bank as defined in Section 3(a)(6) of the Exchange Act, is the beneficial owner of 307,200 of our common
shares as a result of it serving as investment adviser to institutional accounts owning such shares. Edward C. Johnson 3d and FMR LLC,
through its control of Fidelity, PGALLC, PGATC and the funds and accounts managed by them (the Fidelity Funds ), each has sole power
to dispose of the 20,828,151 shares owned by the Fidelity Funds. Members of the family of Edward C. Johnson 3d, Chairman of FMR
LLC, are the predominant owners, directly or through trusts, of Series B voting common shares of FMR LLC, representing 49% of the
voting power of FMR LLC. The Johnson family group and all other Series B shareholders have entered into a shareholders voting
agreement under which all Series B voting common shares will be voted in accordance with the majority vote of Series B voting common
shares. Accordingly, through their ownership of voting common shares and the execution of the shareholders voting agreement,
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members of the Johnson family may be deemed, under the Investment Company Act of 1940, to form a controlling group with respect to
FMR LLC. Neither FMR LLC nor Edward C. Johnson 3d has the sole power to vote or direct the voting of our common shares owned
directly by the Fidelity Funds, which power resides with the Fidelity Funds boards of trustees. Fidelity carries out the voting of our
common shares under written guidelines established by the Fidelity Funds boards of trustees. FMR LLC directly or indirectly owns and
controls a number of registered broker-dealers, among other affiliates. These common shares were purchased by each of the selling
shareholders in the ordinary course of business and, at the time of purchase, the selling shareholders had no agreements or understandings,
directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the common shares.

(28) Includes (i) 1,234,400 shares held by Fidelity Contrafund: Fidelity Advisor New Insights Fund; (ii) 6,578,651 shares held by Fidelity
Contrafund: Fidelity Contrafund; (iii) 311,200 shares held by Fidelity Canadian Asset Allocation Fund; (iv) 2,500,000 shares held by
Fidelity Canadian Disciplined Equity Fund; (28) 84,600 shares held by Fidelity Global Fund; (vi) 50,200 shares held by Fidelity Global
Natural Resources Fund; (vii) 40,800 shares held by IG FI Canadian Asset Allocation Fund; (viii) 126,700 shares held by IG FI Canadian
Equity Class; (ix) 583,100 shares held by IG FI Canadian Equity Fund; (x) 28,800 shares held by Los Angeles Board of Admin. of
Water & Power Employees Retirement, Disability & Death Benefit Plan; (xi) 17,700 shares held by Minnesota State Board of Investment;
(xii) 37,700 shares held by Ohio Police & Fire Pension Fund; (xiii) 84,200 shares held by the State Board of Administration of Florida;
and (xiv) 67,000 shares held by Washington State Investment Board.

(29) FIL Limited ( FIL ), Pembroke Hall, 42 Crow Lane, Hamilton, Bermuda, has sole voting and dispositive power over the common shares
held by Fidelity Global Equity Open Fund. FIL is an indirect affiliate of FMR LLC. FMR LLC directly or indirectly owns and controls a
number of registered broker-dealers, among other affiliates. These common shares were purchased by this selling shareholder in the
ordinary course of business and, at the time of purchase, this selling shareholder had no agreements or understandings, directly or
indirectly, with any person to distribute the common shares.

(30) West Family Investments, LLC is the investment manager to Gary West and Mary West. Randy Rochman, as chief executive officer, and
Johnny Bubb, as vice president, respectively, of West Family Investments, LLC, have shared voting and dispositive power over the
common shares held by Gary West and Mary West.

(31) Includes (i) 906,800 common shares held by Gary West and (ii) 906,800 common shares held by Mary West.

(32) Includes (i) 100,000 common shares held by Gary West and (ii) 100,000 common shares held by Mary West.

(33) Includes (i) 806,800 common shares held by Gary West and (ii) 806,800 common shares held by Mary West.

(34) G. Bryan Dutt, as managing director of Ironman Energy Master Fund, has sole voting and dispositive power over the common shares
held by Ironman Energy Master Fund.

(35) JANA Partners LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, is a private money management firm which holds our common shares in
various funds and accounts under its management and control. The principals of JANA Partners LLC are Barry Rosenstein and Gary Claar,
who share voting and investment control over such shares.

(36) Dean Jackson and Jill Glowicki, as secretary and president, respectively, of JLD Investment Corporation share voting and
dispositive power over the common shares held by JLD Investment Corporation.

(37) Joshua Thomas and Michel Amsalem, as investment managers of Midsummer Investment, Ltd., share voting and dispositive power over
the common shares held by Midsummer Investment, Ltd.

(38) MSD Capital, L.P. is the general partner of MSD Energy Investments, L.P. and may be deemed to have or share voting and dispositive
power over, and/or beneficially own, the common shares held by MSD Energy Investments, L.P. MSD Capital Management LLC is the
general partner of MSD Capital, L.P. and may be deemed to have or share voting and/or dispositive power over, and beneficially own, the
common shares held by MSD Capital, L.P. Each of Glenn R. Fuhrman, John C. Phelan and Marc R. Lisker is a manager of MSD Capital
Management LLC and may be deemed to have or share voting and/or dispositive power over, and beneficially own, the common shares
owned by MSD Capital Management LLC. Each of Mr. Fuhrman, Mr. Phelan and Mr. Lisker disclaim beneficial ownership of such
common shares, except to the extent of the pecuniary interest of such person in such shares.

(39) Soros Fund Management LLC ( SFM LLC ) serves as principal investment manager to Quantum Partners Ltd. As such, SFM LLC has been
granted investment discretion over portfolio investments, including over common shares, held for the account of Quantum Partners Ltd.
George Soros as chairman, Robert Soros as deputy chairman and Jonathan Soros as president and deputy chairman, of SFM LLC, share
voting and dispositive power over the common shares held by Quantum Partners Ltd.

(40) RR Advisors, LLC is the investment advisor and ultimate general partner of RCH Energy Opportunity Fund III, L.P. Robert Raymond, as
the sole member, and W. Mark Meyer, as the president, of RR Advisors, LLC, share voting and dispositive power over the common shares
held by RCH Energy Opportunity Fund III, L.P.
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(41) Includes (i) 1,566,667 common shares held by RCH Energy Opportunity Fund III, LP and (ii) 1,864,378 common shares held by RCH
Energy Opportunity Fund II, LP.

(42) Includes (i) 666,667 common shares held by RCH Energy Opportunity Fund III, LP and (ii) 1,864,378 common shares held by RCH
Energy Opportunity Fund II, LP.

(43) Schroder International Selection Fund Global Energy Fund (the SISF Fund ) is managed by Schroder Investment Management Limited.
Schroder Investment Management Limited retains the voting rights to the common shares held by SISF Fund and votes in its capacity as
discretionary manager. John Coyle, as fund manager of the SISF Fund, has sole dispositive power over the common shares held by the
SISF Fund.

(44) James Kungle, as president of Seabright Investment Consultants Inc., has sole voting and dispositive power over the common shares held
by Seabright Investment Consultants Inc.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

As used in this prospectus, selling shareholders includes the successors-in-interest, donees, transferees or others who may later hold the selling
shareholders interests. In all cases, the selling shareholders will act independently of us in making decisions with respect to the timing, manner,
size and price of each sale.

Each selling shareholder may, from time to time, sell any or all of their common shares on the stock exchange, market or trading facility on
which the common shares are listed or quoted at the time of sale or in private transactions. These sales may be at fixed prices, at prevailing
market prices at the time of sale, at varying prices determined at the time of sale, or negotiated prices. A selling shareholder may use any one or
more of the following methods when selling shares:

ordinary brokerage transactions and transactions in which the broker-dealer solicits purchasers;

block trades in which the broker-dealer will attempt to sell the shares as agent but may position and resell a portion of the block as
principal to facilitate the transaction;

purchases by a broker-dealer as principal and resale by the broker-dealer for its account;

an exchange distribution in accordance with the rules of the applicable exchange;

privately negotiated transactions;

settlement of short sales entered into after the effective date of the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part;

broker-dealers may agree with the selling shareholders to sell a specified number of such shares at a stipulated price per share;

through the writing or settlement of options or other hedging transactions, whether through an options exchange or otherwise;

through underwriters or dealers;
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through agents;

directly to purchasers, including institutional investors;

a combination of any such methods of sale; or

any other method permitted pursuant to applicable law.
Broker-dealers engaged by the selling shareholders may arrange for other brokers-dealers to participate in sales. Broker-dealers may receive
commissions or discounts from the selling shareholders (or, if any broker-dealer acts as agent for the purchaser of shares, from the purchaser) in
amounts to be negotiated, but, except as set forth in a supplement to this prospectus, in the case of an agency transaction not in excess of a
customary brokerage commission in compliance with Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ( FINRA ) Rule 2440; and in the case of a
principal transaction a markup or markdown in compliance with FINRA IM-2440.

In connection with the sale of the common shares, the selling shareholders may enter into hedging transactions with broker-dealers or other
financial institutions, which may in turn engage in short sales of the common shares in
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the course of hedging the positions they assume. The selling shareholders may also sell common shares short after the effective date of the
registration statement of which this prospectus is a part and deliver common shares registered hereby to close out their short positions and to
return borrowed shares in connection with such short sales, or loan or pledge the common shares to broker-dealers that in turn may sell these
securities. The selling shareholders may also enter into option or other transactions with broker-dealers or other financial institutions or the
creation of one or more derivative securities which require the delivery to such broker-dealer or other financial institution of shares offered by
this prospectus, which shares such broker-dealer or other financial institution may resell pursuant to this prospectus (as supplemented or
amended to reflect such transaction). The selling shareholders and any broker-dealers or agents that are involved in selling the shares may be
deemed to be underwriters within the meaning of the Securities Act in connection with such sales. In such event, any commissions received by
such broker-dealers or agents and any profit on the resale of the shares purchased by them may be deemed to be underwriting commissions or
discounts under the Securities Act. Each selling shareholder has informed us that it does not have any written or oral agreement or
understanding, directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the common shares. In no event shall any broker dealer receive fees,
commissions and markups which, in the aggregate, would exceed eight percent (8%).

We are required to pay certain fees and expenses incurred by us incident to the registration of the common shares. We have agreed to indemnify
the selling shareholders against certain losses, claims, damages and liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act.

In addition, any securities covered by this prospectus which qualify for sale pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act may be sold under
Rule 144 rather than under this prospectus. There is no underwriter or coordinating broker acting in connection with the proposed sale of the
common shares by the selling shareholders.

We have agreed to keep this prospectus effective until the earlier of (i) the date on which common shares held by selling shareholders who are
not our affiliates may resell such shares without registration and without regard to any limitations by reason of Rule 144 under the Securities Act
or any other rule of similar effect or (ii) all of the shares have been sold pursuant to this prospectus or Rule 144 under the Securities Act or any
other rule of similar effect. The common shares will be sold only through registered or licensed brokers or dealers if required under applicable
state securities laws. In addition, in certain states, the resale shares may not be sold unless they have been registered or qualified for sale in the
applicable state or an exemption from the registration or qualification requirement is available and is complied with.

Under applicable rules and regulations under the Exchange Act, any person engaged in the distribution of the common shares may not
simultaneously engage in market making activities with respect to the common shares for the applicable restricted period, as defined in
Regulation M, prior to the commencement of the distribution. In addition, the selling shareholders will be subject to applicable provisions of the
Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder, including Regulation M, which may limit the timing of purchases and sales of common
shares by the selling shareholders or any other person.

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK
Shares Generally

Pursuant to our Memorandum of Continuance and our Bye-Laws, we are authorized to issue 1,000,000,000 common shares of par value $0.01
each and 100,000,000 undesignated shares of par value $0.01 each. The Bye-Laws permit the board to authorize us to repurchase our shares
whether for cancellation or to be held as treasury shares, provided we are, after the repurchase, able to pay our liabilities as they become due.
The Bye-Laws permit us to issue redeemable shares.

Common Shares

Holders of our common shares are entitled to one vote per share on all matters submitted to a vote of the shareholders. The Bye-Laws do not
provide for cumulative voting. Any action to be taken by the shareholders at any meeting at which a quorum is in attendance is decided by the
affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast at such meeting, except as otherwise set forth in the Bye-Laws or the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda. An amendment of certain specified provisions of the Bye-Laws requires an affirmative vote of at least 80% of the issued and
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outstanding common shares entitled to vote, and any alteration or abrogation of any rights attached to any class of shares requires (i) consent in
writing of 100% of the issued shares of that class or (ii) the approval of the holders of not less than 75% of the issued shares of that class. In
addition, the following actions requires an affirmative vote of no less than two-thirds of the votes cast: changes to our Memorandum of
Continuance or Bye-Laws, amalgamations, sale, lease or exchange of substantially all of our assets, voluntary winding up or continuance to a
foreign jurisdiction. There are no limitations imposed by Bermuda law or the Bye-Laws on the right of shareholders who are not Bermuda
residents to hold or vote their common shares. Holders of our common shares do not have any pre-emptive rights.

Under the Bye-Laws and Bermuda law, the board of directors may declare and pay dividends from time to time unless there are reasonable
grounds for believing that we are, or after the payment would be, unable to pay our liabilities as they become due or that the realizable value of
our assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of our liabilities and issued share capital and share premium accounts. Each common share is
entitled to dividends only if, as and when dividends are declared by the board of directors. The payment of future dividends, if any, is
determined by the board.

In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of common shares are entitled to share rateably in proportion to their
shareholding in our assets, if any, remaining after the payment of all of our debts and liabilities, subject to any liquidation preference on any
outstanding preference shares.

Undesignated Shares

The Memorandum of Continuance and the Bye-Laws authorize the issuance of 100,000,000 undesignated shares. The undesignated shares may
be issued with such preferred, qualified or other special rights, privileges and conditions and subject to such restrictions, as the board of directors
may determine, in one or more series. The issuance of shares with voting rights, conversion rights or preferential rights could adversely affect
the voting power of our holders of common shares and could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control. Preferred shares
could have preferences over common shares with respect to liquidation rights or dividends.

Registration Rights of Selling Shareholders

The selling shareholders have registration rights pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement entered into by us on November 24, 2009. This
agreement provides for the registration of up to 48,298,790 common shares (the Registrable Securities ). In addition, any of our common shares
acquired in the future by the selling shareholders upon any stock split, dividend or other distribution, recapitalization or similar event with

respect to our common shares will be covered by the agreement. The registration statement, of which this prospectus forms a part, is filed in
accordance with the Registration Rights Agreement.

Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, once any registration statement filed pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement is declared
effective by the SEC, we must, subject to certain customary limitations, maintain the effectiveness of the registration statement continuously
until all of the common shares registered thereby have either been sold or may be sold by our non-affiliates under Rule 144 of the Securities Act,
without limitation or condition. All Registrable Securities cease to be entitled to registration rights under the Registration Rights Agreement
when such securities could be sold by a non-affiliate of us under Rule 144 of the Securities Act without limitation or condition.

Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, we are required to pay the holders of the Registrable Securities liquidated damages in cash equal
to 1% of the purchase price of the Registrable Securities held by them on May 24, 2010 (approximately $975,000 or Cdn$1.0 million), if we

(a) are not on such date subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; (b) have not been for a period of at
least 90 days immediately before such date, subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; or (c) have not
filed all required reports under Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as applicable, during the twelve months preceding such date, other than
Form 8-K reports, as a result of which the holders of Registrable Securities who are not affiliates of us would not be able to sell their Registrable
Securities under Rule 144.
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If we do not pay the liquidated damages amount in full within seven calendar days after the date payable, interest would accrue on the unpaid
amount until paid in full at the rate of 12% per annum. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event will Dalea, an entity controlled by our
chairman, Mr. Mitchell, be entitled to receive any liquidated damages under the Registration Rights Agreement.

We also agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to include 750,000 common shares purchased in a simultaneous private placement in the
U.S. in this registration statement, subject to pro rata cut back. The purchasers of these shares are not entitled to any liquidated damages under
the Registration Rights Agreement.

Anti-Takeover Provisions

The broad discretion given to the board of directors to designate and issue shares from our undesignated shares could be deemed to have an
anti-takeover affect, as could the super-majority requirements for certain shareholder votes as described above.

Director and Officer Indemnity

The Bye-Laws require us to indemnify our officers and directors against all liabilities, loss, damage or expense incurred or suffered by such
person in such capacity or by reason of any act done, conceived or omitted in the conduct of our business or in the discharge of such person s
duties; provided that such indemnification shall not extend to any matter which would render it void pursuant to Bermuda law. Bermuda law
permits us to indemnify directors and officers against liability attaching to them arising from their duties but such indemnification may not
extend to acts of fraud or dishonesty. The Bye-Laws require us to advance funds to directors or officers for their defense upon receipt of an
undertaking to repay the funds if any allegation of fraud or dishonesty is proved, and only if such advance is specifically authorized in
accordance with Bye-Law 44.6. The Bye-Laws permit the purchase of indemnity insurance.

Foreign Exchange Control Regulations

We have been designated as a non-resident for Bermuda exchange control purposes by the Bermuda Monetary Authority. Because of this
designation, there are no restrictions on our ability to transfer funds in and out of Bermuda.

The transfer of shares between persons regarded as resident outside Bermuda for exchange control purposes and the sale of our common shares
to or by such persons may take place without specific consent under the Exchange Control Act 1972. Issuances and transfers of shares involving
any person regarded as resident in Bermuda for exchange control purposes require specific approval under the Exchange Control Act 1972.

As an exempted company, we are exempt from Bermuda laws which restrict the percentage of share capital that may be held by non-Bermuda
residents, but as an exempted company, we may not participate in certain business transactions, including: (1) the acquisition or holding of land
in Bermuda (except that required for our business and held by way of lease or tenancy for terms of not more than 50 years) without the express
authorization of the Bermuda legislature, (2) the taking of mortgages on land in Bermuda to secure an amount in excess of $50,000 without the
consent of the Minister of Finance, (3) the acquisition of any bonds or debentures secured by any land in Bermuda, other than certain types of
Bermuda government securities or (4) the carrying on of business of any kind in Bermuda, except in furtherance of our business carried on
outside Bermuda.
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Bermuda Tax Considerations

The following describes a summary of some of the material tax consequences of an investment in our common shares under Bermuda laws.
Each prospective investor should consult its own tax advisors regarding tax consequences of an investment in our common shares.

In Bermuda there are no taxes on profits, income or dividends, nor is there any capital gains tax, estate duty or death duty. Profits can be
accumulated and it is not obligatory for a company to pay dividends. In addition, stamp duty is not chargeable to any shareholder in respect of
the incorporation, registration or licensing of an exempted company, nor, subject to certain minor exceptions, on their transactions. No reciprocal
tax treaty affecting us exists between Bermuda and the United States.

The Bermuda government has enacted legislation under which the Minister of Finance is authorized to give a tax assurance to an exempted
company or a partnership that, in the event of there being enacted in Bermuda any legislation imposing tax computed on profits or income or
computed on any capital asset, gain or appreciation, then the imposition of any such tax shall not be applicable to such entities or any of their
operations. In addition, there may be included an assurance that any such tax or any tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax, shall not
be applicable to the share, debentures or other obligations of such entities.

On November 6, 2009, we received such a tax assurance from the Minster of Finance of Bermuda under the Exempted Undertakings Tax
Protection Act, 1966. Pursuant to the tax assurance, we have been granted an exemption from the imposition of tax under any applicable
Bermuda law computed on profits or income or computed on any capital asset, gain or appreciation, or on any tax in the nature of estate, duty or
inheritance tax, provided that such exemption shall not prevent the application of any such tax or duty to such persons as are ordinarily resident
in Bermuda and shall not prevent the application of any tax payable in accordance with the provisions of the Land Tax Act, 1967 or otherwise
payable in relation to land in Bermuda leased to us. This tax exemption expires on March 28, 2016.

Registrar and Transfer Agent

The registrar and transfer agent for our common shares is Computershare Trust Company of Canada, 100 University Avenue, 9th Floor,
Toronto, Ontario M5J 2Y1, (416) 263-9200.

Disclosure of Commission Position on Indemnification for Securities Act Liabilities

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to our directors, officers and persons controlling us,
we have been informed that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is,
therefore, unenforceable.

LEGAL MATTERS
The validity of the common shares offered hereby has been passed upon for us by Appleby.
EXPERTS

Our consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 and for each of the years in the three year period ended
December 31, 2009, have been incorporated herein by reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2009, in reliance upon the report of KPMG LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm, also incorporated herein by reference, and
upon the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

The consolidated financial statements of Incremental Petroleum Limited ( Incremental ) and subsidiaries as of and for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007 included herein have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, independent auditors, as stated in their report.
Such financial statements have been so included upon the report of such firm given upon their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.
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INDEPENDENT PETROLEUM ENGINEERS

DeGolyer & MacNaughton, independent petroleum engineers, prepared the proved reserves estimates with respect to certain of our properties
incorporated by reference in this prospectus in reliance upon the authority of said firm as experts in petroleum engineering.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
Service Agreement

Effective May 1, 2008, we entered into a service agreement, as amended (the Service Agreement ), with Longfellow Energy, LP ( Longfellow ),

Viking Drilling LLC ( Viking ), Longe Energy Limited ( Longe ), MedOil Supply, LLC and Riata Management, LLC ( Riata ) (collectively, the
Service Entities ), under which we and the Service Entities agreed to provide technical and administrative services to each other from time to

time on an as-needed basis. Under the terms of the Service Agreement, the Service Entities agreed to provide us upon our request certain

computer services, payroll and benefits services, insurance administration services and entertainment services, and we and the Service Entities

agreed to provide to each other certain management consulting services, oil and gas services and general accounting services (collectively, the
Services ). Under the terms of the Service Agreement, we pay, or are paid, for the actual cost of the Services rendered plus the actual cost of

reasonable expenses on a monthly basis. We or the Service Entities may terminate the Service Agreement at any time by providing advance

notice of termination to the other party.

As of November 1, 2008, pursuant to the Service Agreement, the salary, bonus and benefits earned by each of our named executive officers are
paid by Riata and we reimburse Riata for the actual cost thereof. In 2008, we reimbursed Riata $79,607 for the salary, bonus and benefits
provided to the named executive officers. In addition, Barbara Pope, sister-in-law of Mr. Mitchell, and Terry Pope, brother-in-law of

Mr. Mitchell, are employees of Riata and provide services to us under the Service Agreement. In 2008, we reimbursed Riata $9,705 and $16,087
for services provided by Ms. Pope and Mr. Pope, respectively, pursuant to the Service Agreement. During 2008, Mr. McCann was an employee
of Riata and provided services to us under the Service Agreement. In 2008, we reimbursed Riata $41,856 for services provided by Mr. McCann
pursuant to the Service Agreement. As of January 1, 2009, Mr. McCann became our chief executive officer.

We recorded expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2008 of $4.6 million for goods and Services provided by the Service Entities
pursuant to the Service Agreement or other arrangements, including salary, bonus and benefits reimbursements identified in the prior paragraph,
of which $1.5 million was included in accounts payable at December 31, 2008 and settled in cash during the first quarter of 2009. There were no
amounts due to us from the Service Entities at December 31, 2008.

The following table provides a breakdown of reimbursements of actual costs and expenses made by us to the Service Entities under the Service
Agreement:

For the Year
Ended

December 31,
Service Agreement Category 2008
Salaries and benefits for named executive officers $ 79,607
Salaries and benefits for non-named executive officers 1,571,039
Inventory relating to drilling operations 1,135,642
Prepaid drilling services 605,729
Travel, hotels and meals, excluding the use of Riata-owned aircraft 343,335
Computer equipment and software 266,659
Third party legal and professional fees 170,945
Equipment relating to drilling operations 143,871
Office expenses and supplies 66,997
Allocated overhead 26,473
Geologic and geophysical maps and fees 18,850

Leases
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Total $ 4,429,147
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Aircraft Reimbursements

In addition, we and Riata have an arrangement whereby our executive officers, employees, or consultants, or other persons providing Services to
us under the Service Agreement, are permitted to use aircraft owned by Riata for company-related business travel. For the use of this aircraft, we
reimburse Riata an amount per passenger equal to the cost of a business class ticket on a commercial airline for comparable travel. Riata bears
100% of the cost of fuel, landing fees and all other expenses incurred in connection with such flights in excess of the amount reimbursed by us.
In each case, the actual cost of the flight exceeded the amount of the reimbursement by us. For 2008, we reimbursed Riata $165,654 for the use
of this aircraft. Because this reimbursement is only for company-related business travel of persons providing Services to us and is integrally and
directly related to the performance of such persons duties, our reimbursement is not compensation nor a perquisite to any of our directors or
executive officers. In addition, we reimbursed Riata $25,309 for the use of this aircraft by Mr. Mitchell s wife and son, who accompanied

Mr. Mitchell on company-related business travel in 2008.

Quest Loan

In April 2007, we entered into a $3.0 million short-term standby bridge loan from Quest Capital Corp. ( Quest ). We drew down $3.0 million on
the loan in the second quarter of 2007. In August 2007, we increased the loan facility to $4.0 million and drew down the additional $1.0 million.
We issued 503,823 common shares to Quest at an aggregate value of approximately $359,000 as we drew on the loan. In November 2007, we
paid down $2.0 million in principal on the loan and extended the maturity date on the outstanding principal balance of $2.0 million to March 31,
2008. Quest extended the maturity date to April 30, 2008 to facilitate the closing of the loan with Riata, as described below. We repaid the loan
in full on April 8, 2008. The Quest loan incurred interest at a rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum, calculated daily and compounded

monthly, and we paid an aggregate of $392,461 in interest and fees on the loan. We currently have one director in common with Quest,

Mr. Bayley, who currently serves as Quest s president and chief executive officer. At the time of the Quest transactions, we had two directors in
common with Quest and Mr. Bayley served as Quest s chief executive officer. Transactions with Quest were conducted on an arm s length basis.
The loans were made by Quest in the ordinary course of business and were made on substantially the same terms, including interest rates, as
those prevailing at the time for comparable loans with persons not related to Quest.

Transactions with Messrs. Mitchell and McCann

We have entered into various transactions with our chairman, Mr. Mitchell, and various companies formed and owned or controlled by
Mr. Mitchell that are primarily focused on investing in international energy opportunities. In addition, we entered into various transactions with
Mr. McCann, our chief executive officer since January 1, 2009 and a member of our board of directors since May 2008.

On April 8, 2008, we entered into a $2.0 million short-term loan at an interest rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum with Riata and used the
proceeds to repay the Quest loan in full. We repaid the Riata loan in full on May 30, 2008 and all interest under the Riata loan was waived.

In addition, on April 8, 2008, Dalea purchased 10,000,000 common shares from us at a purchase price of Cdn$0.30 per share pursuant to the first
stage of a private placement announced in March 2008 and, on May 30, 2008, Dalea and Riata TransAtlantic, LLC ( Riata TransAtlantic )
purchased a further 12,630,000 common shares from us at a purchase price of Cdn$0.36 per share pursuant to the second stage of the private
placement. Mr. McCann, at that time a member of our board of directors, also participated in the second stage of the private placement,
purchasing 1,100,000 common shares. However, neither Mr. Mitchell nor Mr. McCann were related parties of us on March 28, 2008, the date
that Dalea and Riata TransAtlantic first agreed that they or their associates would participate in the private placement and provide the short-term
loan to us.
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We entered into a Registration Rights Agreement, as of April 8, 2008, as amended and restated as of December 30, 2008, with Riata (the Riata
Registration Rights Agreement ). Pursuant to the Riata Registration Rights Agreement, Riata has the right to request that we effect the
qualification under Canadian securities laws of all or part of our common shares (and any of our securities issued on conversion of, in exchange
for or in replacement of such common shares) owned or controlled by Riata, certain entities affiliated with Riata, the purchasers that participated
in our December 2008 private placement, and Longfellow (the Qualifiable Securities ), to permit the distribution of such Qualifiable Securities to
the public in any or all of the provinces and territories of Canada (a Demand Qualification ). We will not be obligated to effect any Demand
Qualification for less than Cdn$5,000,000 or to effect more than two Demand Qualifications in any twelve-month period or until a period of at
least 90 days has elapsed from the effective date of the most recent previous qualification. In addition to the Demand Qualification rights,
subject to certain limitations, if we propose to file a prospectus under Canadian securities laws in order to permit the qualification of securities
that are to be sold by us or by any of our shareholders, we will use all reasonable efforts to include in the proposed distribution such number of
Qualifiable Securities as Riata shall request upon the same terms as such distribution.

In July 2008, Longfellow guaranteed the obligations of us and Longe under a farm-out agreement concerning our Ouezzane-Tissa and Asilah
exploration permits in Morocco up to a maximum of $25 million. In addition, in July 2008, we received a reimbursement of expenses in the
amount of $832,000 from Longe related to Longe s participation in our Moroccan exploration permits.

On December 30, 2008, we acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Longe from Longfellow in consideration for the issuance of
39,583,333 common shares and 10,000,000 common share purchase warrants. Each common share purchase warrant entitles the holder to
purchase one common share at an exercise price of $3.00 per share through December 30, 2011. Concurrently, we issued 35,416,667 common
shares at a price of $1.20 per share in a private placement with Dalea, Riata TransAtlantic, Mr. McCann and other purchasers that have business
or familial relationships with Mr. Mitchell, resulting in gross proceeds of $42.5 million. Dalea and Riata TransAtlantic purchased an aggregate
of 34,381,667 common shares, and Mr. McCann purchased 250,000 common shares. In addition, we paid $740,000 to Longfellow for additional
drilling equipment delivered at closing of the Longe acquisition.

In November 2008, in connection with the pending acquisition of Longe, we agreed with Longe that we would suspend billing Longe for work
that we were conducting for its Moroccan operations. As a result, we recorded approximately $1 million in related expenses that we would have
billed to Longe had the Longe acquisition not been completed.

On December 31, 2008, we entered into bills of sale and assignment with Viking. Under the terms of the bills of sale and assignment, we
purchased at Viking s cost certain drilling and service equipment and other assets from Viking for use in Turkey, Morocco and Romania. We
paid $8.3 million to Viking for the drilling and service equipment and other assets.

Mr. Mitchell and his wife own 100% of Riata and Dalea, and Mr. Mitchell is a manager of Riata TransAtlantic. In addition, Mr. Mitchell is a
partner of Dalea and a manager of Dalea Management, LLC, the general partner of Dalea. Mr. Mitchell, his wife and children indirectly own
100% of Longtellow. Prior to our acquisition of Longe, Longe was owned by Longfellow. Riata owns 100% of MedOQil Supply, LLC. Dalea
owns 85% of Viking.

MATERIAL CHANGES

There have been no material changes to us since December 31, 2009 that have not been described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, this
prospectus and our Current Reports on Form 8-K.
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INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN INFORMATION BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows us to incorporate by reference certain information we have filed with them, which means that we can disclose important
information to you by referring you to documents we have filed with the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be
part of this prospectus. We incorporate by reference the documents listed below, excluding any disclosures therein that are furnished and not
filed:

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, filed on March 31, 2010;

Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 21, 2009 and filed on December 28, 2009, as amended by Amendment No. 1 on
Form 8-K/A filed on January 7, 2010; and

Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 7, 2010 and filed on January 13, 2010.
We will provide, upon written or oral request, to each person, including any beneficial owner, to whom a prospectus is delivered, a copy of these
filings (other than exhibits to such documents unless such exhibits are specifically incorporated by reference in any such documents) at no cost.
We can be contacted at the address and phone number indicated below:

TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.
5910 N. Central Expressway
Suite 1755
Dallas, Texas 75206
Attn: Secretary
Telephone (214) 220-4323

Our incorporated reports and other documents may be accessed at our website address: www.transatlanticpetroleum.com or by contacting the
SEC as described below in  Where You Can Find More Information.

The information contained on our website does not constitute a part of this prospectus, and our website address supplied above is intended to be
an inactive textual reference only and not an active hyperlink to our website.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You can read these SEC filings, and this
registration statement, over the Internet at the SEC s website at www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy any document we file with the SEC at
its public reference facilities at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may also obtain copies of the documents at prescribed rates by
writing to the Public Reference Section of the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for
further information on the operation of the public reference facilities.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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TransAtLANTIC PETROLEUM LTD.
Unaupitep Pro Forma CoNDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements give effect to the following transactions of TransAtlantic
Petroleum Ltd. ( TransAtlantic or the Company ).

Longe Acquisition

On September 19, 2008, the Company entered into a purchase agreement for the acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding shares of Longe
Energy Limited ( Longe ) from Longfellow Energy, LP ( Longfellow ), an entity indirectly owned by N. Malone Mitchell, 3rd, his wife and
children, and agreed to make a concurrent private placement of common shares of the Company. Mr. Mitchell is the Chairman of the Company s
board of directors. The transactions closed on December 30, 2008. Longe became an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company on
December 30, 2008. Pursuant to the terms of the purchase agreement, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Longe
(the Longe Acquisition ) in consideration for the issuance of 39,583,333 common shares of the Company and 10,000,000 common share
purchase warrants. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at an exercise price of $3.00 per share
through December 30, 2011. Concurrently with the acquisition, the Company issued 35,416,667 common shares at a price of $1.20 per share in a
private placement (the Private Placement ) with Dalea Partners, LP ( Dalea ), Riata TransAtlantic, LLC ( Riata TransAtlantic ), Matthew McCann
and other purchasers with business or familial relationships with Mr. Mitchell, resulting in gross proceeds of $42.5 million to the Company.

Mr. Mitchell owns and controls Dalea and manages Riata TransAtlantic. Mr. McCann currently serves as the chief executive officer and a
director of the Company and, at the time of the private placement, was a director of the Company. The Company recorded $1.1 million in
transaction costs for the Longe acquisition and the concurrent private placement. Both the acquisition of Longe and the Private Placement are
reflected on TransAtlantic s historical balance sheet as of December 31, 2009.

The purchase price of the Longe acquisition is as follows:

(in thousands)

Fair value of TransAtlantic common shares $ 28,104
Fair value of TransAtlantic common share purchase warrants net 5,228
Transaction costs 484
Total purchase price $ 33,816

The fair value of the Company s common shares used in determining the purchase price was $0.71 per share based on the closing price of the
Company s common shares on December 30, 2008. The fair value of the 10 million common share purchase warrants was determined using the
Black-Scholes Model with the following assumptions: stock price of $0.71; volatility of 169%; dividend rate of 0%; risk-free interest rate of
1.67%; and term of three years.

The allocation of net assets acquired is as follows:

(in thousands)

Property and equipment $ 32,350
Deposits on equipment 2,508
Other 128
Accounts payable (1,170)
Total net assets acquired: $ 33,816
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Under the terms of the purchase agreement, the Company assumed Longe s existing work commitments for drilling and other exploratory
activities under its exploration permits in Morocco.

Incremental Acquisition

On October 27, 2008, the Company announced its intention to make a cash takeover offer (the Offer ) through TransAtlantic Australia Pty. Ltd.
( TransAtlantic Australia ), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, for all of the outstanding common shares of Incremental Petroleum
Limited ( Incremental ), an international oil and gas company that was publicly traded on the Australian Stock Exchange. The Offer expired on
March 6, 2009. As of March 6, 2009, the Company owned common shares of Incremental representing approximately 65.4% of Incremental s
outstanding common shares, and had received offers to acquire an additional approximately 11.6% of Incremental s outstanding common shares.
On March 20, 2009, the Company purchased 15,025,528 common shares of Incremental from
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Unaupitep Pro Forma CoNDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Mr. Mitchell. The Company acquired these shares from Mr. Mitchell for cash at a price of AUD $1.085 per share, the same price per share and
pursuant to the same terms as the shares acquired from Incremental s other shareholders, none of whom had any relationship with the Company.
Incremental was delisted from the Australian Stock Exchange on March 26, 2009. At March 31, 2009, the Company had paid for and owned
approximately 96% of the common shares of Incremental. On April 20, 2009, the Company paid for and completed the acquisition of the
remaining 4% of Incremental s common shares through an Australian statutory procedure. These shares were acquired at the same price per share
as the previous share purchases. In addition, the Company agreed to purchase all of the outstanding options to acquire common shares of
Incremental. On April 8, 2009, in exchange for the assignment of the Incremental options to the Company, the Company paid the Incremental
option holders an aggregate of $721,000 in cash and issued them an aggregate of 101,585 common shares of the Company and 829,960 common
share purchase warrants of the Company. Each warrant is exercisable through April 2, 2012 and entitles the holder to purchase one common

share of the Company at an exercise price of $1.20 per share. The common shares and common share purchase warrants were issued pursuant to
an exemption from registration under Regulation S of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act ). The Company has accounted
for the Incremental acquisition (the Incremental Acquisition ) as a business combination, which is discussed further in TransAtlantic s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009, incorporated by reference into this prospectus.

The following tables summarize the consideration paid in the Incremental acquisition, and the purchase price allocation of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed recognized at the acquisition dates, as well as the acquisition-date fair value of the non-controlling interests in Incremental:

Consideration:

(in thousands)
Payment of cash amounting to $83,036,483 Australian Dollars for the acquisition of 76,532,473 shares of Incremental,
translated into U.S. Dollars based on the exchanges rates in effect on the dates of the transactions, ranging from

February 18, 2009 through March 20, 2009 $ 53,942
Payment of cash to retire share-based payment arrangements of Incremental 721
Total cash consideration 54,663
Issuance of 101,585 common shares of the Company to retire share-based payment arrangements of Incremental 71
Issuance of 829,960 warrants to purchase the Company s common shares to retire share-based payment arrangements of

Incremental 207
Fair value of total consideration transferred $ 54,941

The fair value of the 101,585 common shares issued as part of the consideration paid in the Incremental acquisition was determined on the basis
of the closing market price of the Company s common shares on the acquisition date, or $0.70 per share. The fair value of the 829,960 warrants
issued as part of the consideration paid in the Incremental acquisition was determined using the Black-Scholes Model using the following
assumptions: strike price of $1.20 per share, expected life of three years based on management s expectation that the warrants will not be
exercised until near the end of the warrants 36 month contractual term, volatility of 40% based on a third party independent valuation of the
warrants offered to the Incremental option holders, a 3.5% risk-free interest rate, and a forecasted dividend rate of 0% based on the Company s
historic dividends and future plans for paying dividends. The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes Model yielded a fair value of $0.25 per
warrant.

Acquisition-Related Costs:
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Included in general and administrative expenses on the Company s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2009, of which $181,000 was incurred in 2008 and recorded as a deferred charge as at December 31, 2008 $817

F-2

Index to Financial Statements 32



Edgar Filing: TRANSATLANTIC PETROLEUM LTD. - Form POS AM

Table of Conten
Index to Financial men
TransAtLANTIC PETROLEUM LTD.

Unaupitep Pro Forma CoNDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Recognized Amounts of Identifiable Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed at Acquisition:

Financial Assets:

Cash, consisting of approximately $1.3 million, AUD $3.6 million and 3.5 million Turkish Lira $ 5,547

Accounts receivable 4,317

Total financial assets 9,864

Deferred income tax assets 626

Other current assets, consisting primarily of prepaid expenses 1,022

Oil and gas properties

Unproved properties 2,290

Proved properties 50,970

Rigs and related equipment 2,802

Materials and supplies inventories 1,313

Total oil and gas properties 57,375

Financial Liabilities:

Accounts payable, consisting of normal trade obligations (1,773)
Accrued liabilities, consisting primarily of accrued compensated employee absences (679)
Current portion of long-term debt (2,765)
Deferred income taxes (7,925)
Long-term debt (1,217)

Asset retirement obligations, consisting of future plugging and abandonment liabilities on Incremental s developed wellbores as
of March 5, 2009, based on internal and third-party estimates of such costs, adjusted for a historic Turkish inflation rate of

approximately 7.9%, and discounted to present value using the Company s credit-adjusted risk-free rate of 7.2% (3,025)
Total financial liabilities (17,384)
Total identifiable net assets $ 51,503

Fair value of non-controlling interest in Incremental, based on the Company s acquisition of such interest on April 20, 2009 for
AUD$3,475,399 $ 2,761

Goodwill $ 6,199

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of a business over the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
The Company recorded $6.2 million in goodwill on the acquisition of Incremental. The goodwill relates to access to potential exploration and
production opportunities in foreign jurisdictions.

On November 28, 2008, the Company entered into a credit agreement with Dalea. The purpose of the Dalea credit agreement was to fund the
Incremental Acquisition. As of March 31, 2009, the Company had borrowed $59.0 million from Dalea pursuant to the credit agreement for the
acquisition of 96% of the outstanding Incremental shares. Pursuant to the Dalea credit agreement, as amended, until May 30, 2009, the Company
was permitted to request advances from Dalea of (i) up to $62.0 million to purchase shares of Incremental in connection with the Offer plus
related transaction costs and expenses, and (ii) up to $14.0 million for general corporate purposes. Advances under the credit agreement in
connection with the Incremental Acquisition were denominated in U.S. Dollars, but were advanced in Australian Dollars at an agreed upon
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currency exchange rate of $0.7024 US to AUD $1.00. Advances under the credit agreement in connection with funding general corporate
activities were denominated and advanced in U.S. Dollars. Balances outstanding under the agreement accrued interest at a fixed rate of 10% per
annum. Borrowings under the Dalea credit agreement were repaid in full during June 2009, at which time the Dalea credit agreement was
terminated.

TransAtlantic s historical consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2009 reflects the transactions described above, and accordingly, no
unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of December 31, 2009 is presented. The Company has recorded the assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed in the Incremental Acquisition at their fair values.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2008 gives effect to: i) the Longe
Acquisition and Private Placement as if they were consummated on April 14, 2008 consistent with Longe s date of incorporation; ii) the
Incremental Acquisition as if the entire 100% interest was obtained on January 1, 2008; and iii) the effects of the borrowings under the Dalea
credit agreement as if they had occurred on January 1, 2008. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations combines
the historical results of TransAtlantic, Longe and Incremental for the year ended December 31, 2008. The historical results of TransAtlantic
were derived from its audited consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2008. The
historical results of Longe were derived from its audited statement of operations for the period from April 14, 2008 (inception) through
November 30, 2008. The historical results of operations for Incremental were derived from its audited consolidated statement of operations
incorporated by reference into this prospectus, though amounts reported on Incremental s results of operations have been expressed in Australian
Dollars, and have been translated into U.S. Dollars using the average exchange rates in effect over the year ended December 31, 2008, which
amounted to approximately $0.85 per Australian Dollar. Incremental s historic results of operations are presented in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards ( IFRS ).
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Incremental s results of operations from March 5, 2009 through December 31, 2009 are included in TransAtlantic s historic results of operations.
Longe s results of operations have been included in TransAtlantic s historic results of operations since December 31, 2008. The unaudited pro
forma condensed combined statement of operations for year ended December 31, 2009 gives effect to: i) the Incremental Acquisition as if the
entire 100% interest was obtained on January 1, 2008; and i) the effects of the borrowings under the Dalea credit agreement as if they had
occurred on January 1, 2008. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations combines the historical results of
TransAtlantic and Incremental for the year ended December 31, 2009. The historical results of TransAtlantic were derived from its audited
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2009. The historical results of operations for
Incremental for the period from January 1, 2009 through March 4, 2009 were derived from its accounting records.

The unaudited pro forma statements are prepared in accordance with Regulation S-X and the accounting policies used in the preparation of the
pro forma statements are in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States ( U.S. GAAP ), which are consistent
with those used in TransAtlantic s audited financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2008, except that the Incremental
Acquisition reflects TransAtlantic s adoption of Accounting Standards Codification 805, Business Combinations (formerly Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards ( SFAS ) No. 141R, Business Combinations), and Accounting Standards Codification 810-10-65, Consolidation
(formerly SFAS No. 160, Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements).

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements have been prepared for illustrative purposes only and are not necessarily
indicative of the consolidated financial position or results of operations in future periods or the results that actually would have been realized had
Longe and Incremental been consolidated with TransAtlantic during the periods shown. The pro forma adjustments are based on information
available at the time of the preparation of these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements. The unaudited pro forma
condensed combined financial statements, including the notes thereto, should be read in conjunction with the historical audited financial
statements of Longe for the period ended November 30, 2008 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 18, 2009 on Form
8-K/A and the historical consolidated financial statements of TransAtlantic and the historic consolidated financial statements of Incremental
each of which are incorporated by reference into this prospectus.
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2008

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars, except per share amounts)

Revenues:
Revenues

Oil and gas sales

Total revenues
Costs and Expenses:
Production

Seismic and other exploration
General and administrative
Employee benefits expense

Takeover defense

International oil and gas activities

Royalty expense

Raw materials and consumables used

Field costs

Accretion of discount on asset retirement obligations
Finance costs

Depreciation, depletion and amortization

Total costs and expenses

Operating income (loss)
Other income (expense):
Interest and financing expense
Interest and other income
Foreign exchange loss

Other

Income (loss) before income tax provision (benefit)
Income tax provision (benefit)

Net income (loss)

Loss per share:
Basic and diluted
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TransAtlantic
Historical

111

111
73
7,901

3,592

5,183

6

53
16,808

(16,697)

(116)
338

(16,475)

$  (16475)

$ (0.25)

Longe

Historical

$

$

508

257

765

(765)

(132)

(897)

(897)

Incremental

Historical

$

$

(IFRS)

45,439

45,439

7,977
1,431
5,520
7,113
2,275

105
4,123

28,544

16,895

(853)
(678)

15,364
4,822

10,542

U.S. GAAP

and Pro Forma
Adjustments

$ (1,051)
(44,388)
(5,520)
44,388

6,571)

7,531
9,388
3,798

98

1,877
(7,531)
(446)
(1,431)

(5,520)
(7,113)
(2,275)
415
(105)
(116)

(1,430)
(5,141)
(5,900)
761
(4,276)
290

(14,266)
(799)

$(13,467)

= Qw >

(ol @Ra=fles)

eslissiiesiies!

Noe T ITQ

N

(¢}

Combined
Pro Forma
Amounts

$

38,979

38,979
16,992
11,797

5,977

5,440

421

4,060
44,687
(5,708)
(6,148)

1,099

(5,129)
(388)

(16,274)
4,023

$ (20,297)

$  (0.17)
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Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted 66,524

See Accompanying Notes to these Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements
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Unaupitep Pro Forma CoNDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OQPERATIONS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars, except per share amounts)

Revenues:
Revenues

Oil and gas sales

Oilfield Services

Total revenues
Costs and Expenses:
Production

Exploration, abandonment and impairment
Seismic and other exploration

General and administrative

Employee benefits expense

Takeover defense

International oil and gas activities

Royalty expense

Raw materials and consumables used

Field costs

Accretion of discount on asset retirement obligations
Finance costs

Depreciation, depletion and amortization

Total costs and expenses

Operating income (loss)

Other income (expense):

Interest and financing expense

Interest and other income

Loss on commodity derivative contracts
Foreign exchange loss

Other

Loss before income tax provision
Income tax provision

Net loss
Non controlling interests, net of tax

Table of Contents

Incremental
TransAtlantic Historical
Historical (IFRS)
$ $ 4,195
27,681
1,588
29,269 4,195
10,168
24,791
10,538
16,129
1,799
62
12,349
212
893
215
164
15
7,942 652
82,081 3,848
(52,812) 347
(2,748)
213
(1,922)
(3,449) 8
(546)
(60,718) (191)
1,299 107
(62,017) (298)
(129)

U.S. GAAP

and Pro Forma
Adjustments

$ @D
(4,154)
(212)
4,154

(253)

942
1,108

73
919
(942)
(857)

(62)

(212)
(893)
(215)
22
(15)
(460)

(592)

339

(937)
26

15

(557)
63

(620)
129

Nao =T ITQ oo O T W QW >

>

> =<

Z

Combined
Pro Forma
Amounts

$
31,623

1,588

33,211
12,218
24,791

10,611
17,048

12,349

186

8,134
85,377
(52,126)
(3,685)

239
(1,922)
(3,441)
(531)

(61,466)
1,469

(62,935)
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Net loss attributable to TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. $  (62,146) $ (298) $ (491 $ (62,935)

Net loss per common share attributable to TransAtlantic Petroleum
Ltd.:
Basic and diluted $ (0.29) O $ (030

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted 212,320 O 212,355

See Accompanying Notes to these Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements
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Notes To Unauvpitep Pro Forma CoNDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of U.S. GAAP and Pro Forma Adjustments

A Reclassifies interest and other income, which is included in revenue on Incremental s Consolidated Income Statement, as presented under
IFRS. Consistent with U.S. GAAP, these amounts should be included in other income (expense).

B Reclassifies oil and gas sales revenue, which is included in revenue on Incremental s Consolidated Income Statement, as presented under
IFRS. Consistent with U.S. GAAP, these amounts should be included in oil and gas sales revenue.

C  Records exploration expense incurred by Incremental, which is capitalized under IFRS, but expensed under the U.S. GAAP successful
efforts method. Such charges consist primarily of seismic data processing and related direct expenses incurred by Incremental to study
such data, along with other geological and geophysical activities.

D  Records dry hole expenses of Longe, which were capitalized under the full cost method but expensed under successful efforts. This
adjustment is inapplicable to the pro forma condensed combined financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009, as Longe s
results of operations are included in TransAtlantic s historical results of operations for that period.

E  Reclassifies costs related to those individuals directly associated with Incremental s oil and gas producing operations. Such costs are
included in employee benefits expense on Incremental s Consolidated Income Statement, as presented under IFRS. Consistent with U.S.
GAAP, these amounts should be included in production expense.

F  Reclassifies employee benefits expense and takeover defense, which are shown separately on Incremental s Consolidated Income
Statement, as presented under IFRS. These charges represent general and administrative expenses as reported under U.S. GAAP.

G Reclassifies royalty expense which is shown as an expense on Incremental s Consolidated Income Statement, as presented under IFRS. In
conformance with TransAtlantic s accounting policies, these amounts are shown as a reduction of revenue because Incremental was never
entitled to these amounts.

H  Reclassifies raw materials and consumables used and field costs, which are shown separately on Incremental s Consolidated Income
Statement, as presented under IFRS. These charges represent lease operating expenses as reported under U.S. GAAP, and would have been
included in production expense on TransAtlantic s consolidated statement of operations had the Incremental Acquisition occurred on
January 1, 2008.

I Records accretion of discount on asset retirement obligations based on TransAtlantic s estimate of the present value of those obligations.

J Finance costs on Incremental s Consolidated Income Statement, as presented under IFRS, represent accretion of discount on asset
retirement obligations. This adjustment reverses the historical amounts as the pro forma amounts have been contemplated in Note I above.
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K Adjusts Incremental s historic depletion and depreciation expense recorded in accordance with IFRS to amounts indicated based on the
units-of-production method in accordance with U.S. GAAP computed from the amounts allocated to oil and gas properties and
TransAtlantic s estimated proved reserve quantities related to Incremental s oil and gas properties. Depreciation of rigs and other equipment
is provided using the straight-line method over estimated remaining useful lives of approximately seven years as of March 5, 2009. The
Company has recorded the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed in the Incremental Acquisition at their fair values. Depletion for the
period from January 1, 2009 through March 5, 2009 was adjusted to reflect fair value.

L Records interest expense on amounts borrowed under the Dalea credit agreement at the fixed contractual interest rate of 10% per annum as
if those amounts had been outstanding since January 1, 2008. TransAtlantic borrowed $59 million under the Dalea credit agreement to
fund the Incremental Acquisition.

M  Records the loss on borrowings under the Dalea credit agreement resulting from the embedded derivative. Under the terms of the Dalea
credit agreement, the Company borrowed U.S. funds to purchase Incremental s outstanding shares. The U.S. Dollar amounts borrowed
were based on the Australian Dollar equivalent to purchase Incremental shares translated at $0.7024 per Australian Dollar. The existence
of the fixed exchange rate constitutes an embedded derivative. Following is a summary of the loss (in thousands):

U.S. Dollar obligations incurred $ 59,002
Less: U.S. Dollar Equivalents of Australian Dollars realized on borrowings based
on exchange rates in effect on the dates of borrowings 54,726

Equals realized loss on borrowings under Dalea credit agreement based on fixed
exchange rate of $0.7024 per Australian Dollar $ 4,276

F-7
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NotEes To UNaupiTED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

This adjustment is inapplicable to the pro forma condensed combined financial statements for year ended December 31, 2009, as the loss on
borrowings under the Dalea credit agreement is included in TransAtlantic s historical results of operations for that period.

N  Provides income tax on the pro forma adjustments above related to Incremental s Turkish operations using an expected statutory income
rate of 20%. The tax effect of pro forma adjustments related to United States or Australian operations is zero because the Company has a
net deferred tax asset which is reduced to zero by a valuation allowance. For results of operations in Turkey, the Company has a net
deferred tax liability, with no valuation allowances deemed necessary in management s judgment.

O  Pro forma basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2008 is based on TransAtlantic s weighted average shares
outstanding and gives effect to the issuance of 75,000,000 common shares of TransAtlantic pursuant to the Longe acquisition and the
Private Placement as if the shares had been issued on April 14, 2008 (inception), and the issuance of 101,585 common shares of
TransAtlantic to retire share-based payment arrangements of Incremental as if those shares were issued on January 1, 2008, as follows (in
thousands, except per share amount):

Numerator: pro forma combined net loss $ (20,297)
Denominator:

Weighted average shares outstanding as reported 66,524

Weighted average effect of shares issued in the Longe Acquisition and Private

Placement 53,484

Shares issued to retire share-based payment arrangements of Incremental 102

Pro forma weighted average shares outstanding 120,110

Pro forma loss per share $ (0.17)

Pro forma basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2009 is based on TransAtlantic s weighted average shares
outstanding and gives effect to the issuance of 101,585 common shares of TransAtlantic to retire share-based payment arrangements of
Incremental as if those shares were issued on January 1, 2008. The effects of the issuance of 75,000,000 common shares of TransAtlantic
pursuant to the Longe acquisition and the Private Placement are included in TransAtlantic s historical weighted average shares outstanding.
Following is the computation of pro forma weighted average shares outstanding and basic and diluted loss per share (in thousands, except per
share amount):

Numerator: pro forma combined net loss $ (62,935)
Denominator:

Weighted average shares outstanding as reported 212,320

Weighted average effect of shares issued in the Longe Acquisition and Private

Placement

Weighted average effect of shares issued to retire share-based payment

arrangements of Incremental 35
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Pro forma weighted average shares outstanding 212,355
Pro forma loss per share $ (0.30)

Common shares underlying the 829,960 TransAtlantic warrants issued in the Incremental Acquisition have not been included in dilutive
weighted average shares outstanding as their effects were anti-dilutive, based on the pro forma net loss indicated.

P Removes net loss attributable to non-controlling interests in Incremental as such amounts would not have been recognized if the

Incremental Acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2008.
sk ok sk sk ok ok ok
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AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deloitte.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 490 121 060

Woodside Plaza

Level 14

240 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000

GPO Box A46

Perth WA 6837 Australia

DX: 206

Tel: +61 (0) 8 9365 7000

Fax: +61 (0)

www.deloitte.com.au
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Incremental Petroleum Limited
Perth, Australia

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Incremental Petroleum Limited and subsidiaries (the Company ) as of

31 December 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated income statement, statement of income and expense, and cash flow statement for the
years then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Incremental Petroleum
Limited and subsidiaries as of 31 December 2008 and 2007, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the two years in
the period ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

/s/  Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
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Member of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
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Financial report for the year ended 31 December 2008
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Consolidated income statement

for the financial year ended 31 December 2008

Revenue

Royalty expenses

Raw materials and consumables used
Field costs

Employee benefits expense
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Takeover defence expenses

Finance costs

Employee share scheme

Foreign exchange differences

Other expenses

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Notes to the consolidated financial statements are included on pages F-16 to F-41
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Note

2

2008
$ 000
53,271

(6,472)
(8,339)
(2,667)
(9,352)
(4,834)
(1,678)

(123)

(1,000)
(795)

18,011
(5,653)

12,358

2007
$ 000
39,952

(5,164)
(6,910)
(1,081)
(7,985)
(4,188)

(117)
(248)

737
(993)

14,003
(3,229)

10,774
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Consolidated balance sheet

as at 31 December 2008

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories

Other current assets

Total current assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Oil properties in production
Exploration assets

Total non-current assets
Total assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Current tax liabilities
Provisions

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Payables

Borrowings

Deferred tax liabilities
Provisions

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

Equity

Index to Financial Statements

Note

~N N W\

12
11

11

2008
$ 000

11,843
5,362
2,695

739

20,639

16,678
62,024
24,107

102,809

123,448

3,503
4,033

355

7,891

500
2,780
13,672
2,964

19,916

27,807

95,641

2007
$ 000

3,787
7,902
2,208

588

14,485

17,618
60,537
11,567

89,722

104,207

3,654
1,332
17
122

5,125

5,099
12,923
2,923

20,945
26,070

78,137
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Issued capital 14 66,343
Reserves 15 (188)
Retained earnings 16 29,486
Total equity 95,641

Notes to the consolidated financial statements are included on pages F-16 to F-41
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Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense

For the financial year ended 31 December 2008

2008 2007
Note $ 000 $ 000
Translation of foreign operations:

Exchange differences taken to equity 15  (2,006) 6,261
Net (expense)/income recognised directly in equity (2,006) 6,261
Profit for the year 12,358 10,774
Total recognised income and expense for the year 10,352 17,035

Notes to the consolidated financial statements are included on pages F-16 to F-41

F-14

Table of Contents 52



Edgar Filing: TRANSATLANTIC PETROLEUM LTD. - Form POS AM

Table of Conten
Index to Financial men
Incremental Petroleum Limited

Financial Report

Consolidated cash flow statement

For the financial year ended 31 December 2008

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers

Payments to suppliers and employees
Income tax paid

Net cash provided by operating activities 20

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received

Payments for property, plant and equipment
Payments for field development

Payments for exploration

[e e}

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issues of equity securities 14
Interest paid

Capital return paid

Dividend paid

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Payments for share issue costs 14

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 20

Notes to the consolidated financial statements are included on pages F-16 to F-41
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2008
$ 000

47,787
(21,453)
(4,784)

21,550

892
(1,773)
(6,485)

(11,881)

(19,247)
11,162
(529)
(3,485)

(1,202)
(525)

5,421

7,724
3,787
332

11,843

2007
$ 000

32,548
(17,283)
(1,350)

13,915

614
(5,054)
(4,959)
(9,586)

(18,985)

(196)
(3,371)
(2,023)

6,191

601

(4,469)
8,060
196

3,787
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1.  Summary of accounting policies
General Information

Incremental Petroleum Limited (the Company) is an unlisted public company, incorporated in Australia and operating in Australia, USA and
Turkey. The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the company (its
subsidiaries)(referred to as the Group in these financial statements).

Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, a number of standards and Interpretations were in issue but not yet effective.

Effective for annual Expected to be
reporting periods initially applied in the
beginning on or after financial year ending
Initial application of the following Standards
will not affect any of the amounts recognised
in the financial report, but will change the
disclosures presently made in relation to the
Group and the Company s financial
report:Standard / Interpretation
IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2009 31 December 2009
(AASB 101)
IFRS 8, Operating Segments (AASB 8) 1 January 2009 31 December 2008
Initial application of the following
Standards/Interpretations is not expected to
have any material impact on the financial
report of the Group and the Company:
Amendment to IAS 23, Borrowing Costs 1 January 2009 31 December 2009
(AASB 123)
Revised: IFRS 3 (revised), Business Business combinations occurring after 31 December 2010
Combinations (AASB 3) the annual reporting periods beginning 1
July 2009
Revised: IAS 27 (revised), Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements
(AASB 127)
Amendments to IAS 32, Financial 1 July 2009 and 31 December 2010

Instruments: Presentation, and IAS 1,
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Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2009 31 December 2009

Puttable Financial Instruments Arising on
Liquidation and Obligations (AASB 132 and
AASB 101)

AASB Interpretation 15 / IFRIC Interpretation 1 January 2009 31 December 2009
15 Agreements for the Construction of Real
Estate

AASB Interpretation 16 / IFRIC Interpretation 1 October 2008 31 December 2009
16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign
Operation

AASB Interpretation 17 / IFRIC Interpretation 1 July 2009 31 December 2010
17 Distributions of

Non-Cash Assets to Owners

Improvements to IFRSs and AASBs a 1 January 2009 31 December 2009

collection of amendments to International

Financial Reporting Standards and Australian

Accounting Standards
The directors have elected to apply IFRS 8 Operating Segments in the current accounting period, even though this standard was not required to
be applied until annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. Because the group does not have on issue any debt or equity
securities that are traded in a public market and is not in the process of issuing any class of instruments in a public market, the group is not
required to present segment reporting information under IFRS 8, and accordingly none has been provided in this financial report.
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The directors note that the impact of the initial application of the Standards and Interpretations is not yet known or is not reasonably estimable.
These Standards and Interpretations will be first applied in the financial report of the Group that relates to the annual reporting period beginning
on or after the effective date of each pronouncement.

Statement of compliance

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standards. The financial
report includes the consolidated financial statements of the Group only. Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International
Financial Reporting Standards ( A-IFRS ). Compliance with the A-IFRS ensures that the consolidated financial statements and notes of the Group
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards ( IFRS ) as issued by International Accounting Standards Board ( IASB ).

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 11 April 2009
Basis of preparation

The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation of financial instruments. Cost is based on the fair
values of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

The company is a company of the kind referred to in Australian Securities and Investment Commission ( ASIC ) Class Order 98/0100, dated
10 July 1998, and in accordance with that Class Order amounts in the financial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless
otherwise indicated.

Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of A-IFRS/IFRS management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the year in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year, or in the year of the revision and future years if the revision affects both
current and future years.

Judgments made by management in the application of A-IFRS/IFRS that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates with a
significant risk of material adjustments in the next year are disclosed, where applicable, in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies the concepts of
relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is reported.

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial report:

(a) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in banks and investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the balance sheet.
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Cash and cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value and have a maturity of three months or less at the date of the acquisition.

(b) Employee benefits
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long service leave, and sick leave when it is
probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably except for those financial assets classified as at fair
value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair value

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their nominal values using the
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.
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Provisions made in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the present value of the
estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date.

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed when incurred.

(¢c) Financial assets
Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract whose terms require
delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction
costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair value

Subsequent to initial recognition, investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost.

Other financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss , held-to-maturity
investments, available-for-sale financial assets, and loans and receivables . The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Effective Interest Method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets at fair value through the profit or loss.
Loans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as
loans and receivables . Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate.

(d) Financial instruments
Debt and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Transaction costs on the issue of equity instruments
Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the proceeds of the equity

instruments to which the costs relate. Transaction costs are the costs that are incurred directly in connection with the issue of those equity
instruments and which would not have been incurred had those instruments not been issued.
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Interest and dividends

Interest and dividends are classified as expenses or as distributions of profit consistent with the balance sheet classification of the related debt or
equity instruments.

(e) Foreign currency
The individual financial statements of each group entity are presented in the functional currency being the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates. For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each
entity are expressed in Australian dollars, which is the functional currency of Incremental Petroleum Limited and the presentation currency for
the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign currency transactions

All foreign currency transactions during the financial year are brought to account using the exchange rate in effect at the date of the transaction.
Foreign currency monetary items at reporting date are translated at the exchange rate existing at reporting date. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the year in which they arise.
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Foreign operations

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group s overseas operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date.
Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly, in which case
the exchange rate at the dates of the transaction are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in the foreign currency translation
reserve, and recognised in profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.

(f) Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

i where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of
an asset, equity cost, or as part of an item of expense; or

ii.  for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing
activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.

(g) Impairment of assets
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss (other
than goodwill) is recognised in profit or loss immediately.
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(h) Income tax
Current tax

Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or tax loss for the
year. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. Current tax for current and
prior years is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable).

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising from
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax base of those items. The
tax base of an asset or liability is the amount attributed to that asset or liability for tax purposes.

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets
can be utilised. However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the
initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination) which affects neither taxable income nor accounting
profit. Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in relation to taxable temporary differences arising from goodwill.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates and joint
ventures except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with these investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year(s) when the asset and liability giving rise to
them are realised or settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the company/Group
intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the income statement, except when it relates to items credited or debited
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity, or where it arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, in which case it is taken into account in the determination of goodwill or excess.

(i) Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of fixed and variable overhead
expenses, are assigned to inventory on hand by the method most appropriate to each particular class of inventory with all categories being valued
on a first in first out basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs of disposal.

(j) Payables
Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments resulting from the
purchase of goods and services.

(k) Presentation currency
The consolidated financial information is presented in Australian dollars, being the functional currency of Incremental Petroleum Limited. The
functional currency of the Turkish and U.S. operating entities is the New Turkish Lira and US Dollar respectively . The results and financial
position of the Turkish operating entities are expressed in Australian dollars a common currency so that the consolidated financial statements
may be presented.

(1) Principles of consolidation
Control is achieved where the Company has power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefit from its
activities.
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On acquisition, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition. Any
excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. If, after reassessment, the
fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired exceeds the cost of acquisition, the deficiency is credited to profit and loss in the year of
acquisition.

The consolidated financial statements include the information and results of each subsidiary from the date on which the company obtains control
and until such time as the company ceases to control such entity.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, and unrealised profits arising within the Group
are eliminated in full. The results of the Group cover the financial year.

(m) Property, plant and equipment
Plant and equipment, leasehold improvements and equipment under finance lease are initially stated at fair value at the date of acquisition. Fair
value is determined on the basis of an independent valuation prepared by external valuation experts.

Subsequent additions to property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. In the event that settlement of all or part of the purchase consideration is
deferred, cost is determined by discounting the amounts payable in the future to their present value as at the date of acquisition.
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Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but excluding land. Depreciation is calculated on a
straight line basis so as to write off the net cost or other revalued amount of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual
value. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the year of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the shorter, using the straight line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method is reviewed at the end of each annual reporting year.

The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation:

Plant and equipment 10 years

Well head assets 10 years

(n) Oil properties in production
The Group amortises the oil properties in production on a unit of production basis over estimated reserves. The estimated 2P reserves of the
oilfield are 12.04 million barrels. Production during the year was 493,409 barrels.

(o) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the
provision can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cashflows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cashflows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

(p) Revenue recognition
Sale of goods

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when persuasive
evidence, usually in the form of an executed sales agreement, or an arrangement exists, indicating there has been a transfer of risks and rewards
to the customer, no further work or processing is required by the Group, the quantity and quality of the goods has been determined with
reasonable accuracy, the price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. This is generally when title passes.

Dividend and interest revenue

Dividend revenue is recognised on a receivable basis. Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the
effective yield on the financial asset.
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(q) Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant. Fair value is measured by use of a Black-Scholes model
taking into account the terms and conditions on which the options are granted.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group s estimate of shares that will eventually vest.

(r) Receivables
Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded at amounts due less any allowance for doubtful debts.

(s) Joint ventures
Interests in jointly controlled assets and operations are reported in the financial statements by including the Group s share of assets employed in
the joint ventures, the share of liabilities incurred in relation to the joint ventures and the share of any expenses incurred in relation to the joint
ventures in their respective classification categories.

(t) Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment
of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest
are continuing.
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Exploration and evaluation activity includes:

researching and analysing historical exploration data

gathering exploration data through topographical, geochemical and geophysical studies

exploratory drilling

surveying transportation and infrastructure requirements

conducting market and finance studies
Exploration and evaluation expenditure (including amortisation of capitalised licence costs) is charged to the income statement as incurred
except in the following circumstances, in which case the expenditure may be capitalised:

In respect of petroleum activities the exploration and evaluation activity is within an area of interest for which it is expected that the expenditure
will be recouped by future exploitation or sale; or at the balance sheet date, exploration and evaluation activity has not reached a stage which
permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of commercially recoverable reserves.

Capitalised exploration costs are reviewed each reporting date to determine whether an indication of impairment exists. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the capitalised exploration costs is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where an
impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only
to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in previous years.

Where a decision is made to proceed with development, accumulated expenditure is tested for impairment and transferred to oil properties in
production , and then amortised over the life of the reserves associated with the area of interest once production has have commenced.

(u) Provision for restoration and rehabilitation
A provision for restoration and rehabilitation is recognised when there is a present obligation as a result of exploration, development, production,
transportation or storage activities undertaken, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and
the amount of the provision can be measured reliably. The estimated future obligations include the costs of removing facilities, abandoning wells
and restoring the affected areas.

The provision for future restoration costs is the best estimate of the present value of the expenditure required to settle the restoration obligation
at the reporting date, based on current legal and other requirements and technology. Future restoration costs are reviewed annually and any
changes in the estimate are reflected in the present value of the restoration provision at the end of the balance sheet date.
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The initial estimate of the restoration and rehabilitation provision relating to production facilities is capitalised into the related asset and
amortised on the same basis as the related asset, unless the present obligation arises from the production of inventory in the year, in which case
the amount is included in the cost of production for the year. Changes in the estimate of the provision for restoration and rehabilitation are
treated in the same manner, except that the unwinding of the effect of discounting on the provision is recognised as a finance cost.

(v) Development expenditure
Development expenditure is recognised at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. Where commercial production in an
area of interest has commenced, the associated costs together with any forecast future capital expenditure necessary to develop proved and
probable reserves are amortised over the estimated economic life of the field on a units-of-production basis.

Changes in factors such as estimates of proved and probable reserves that affect unit-of-production calculations are dealt with on a prospective
basis.

(w) Use and revision of accounting estimates
As a result of the uncertainties inherent in business and other activities, many items in a financial report cannot be measured with precision but
can only be estimated. The estimation process involves best estimates based on the latest information available. Estimates may be required, for
example, bad debts, inventory obsolescence, provision for rehabilitation or the useful lives or expected pattern of consumption of economic
benefits of depreciable assets. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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Reserve estimates

Estimation of reported recoverable quantities of proven and probable reserves include judgmental assumptions regarding commodity prices,
exchange rates, discount rates, and production and transportation costs for future cash flows. It also requires interpretation of complex geological
and geophysical model in order to make an assessment of the size, shape, depth and quality of reservoirs and their anticipated recoveries. The
economic, geological and technical factors used to estimate reserves may change from period to period. Changes in reported reserves can impact
asset carrying values, the provision for restoration and the recognition of deferred tax assets, due to changes in expected future cash flows.

Reserves are integral to the amount of depreciation, depletion and amortisation charged to the income statement. Reserve estimates are prepared
in accordance with guidelines of the Society of Petroleum Engineers.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Useful lives of property. plant and equipment

As described above, the Group reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each annual reporting period.
During the financial year, the directors determined no change was required.

(x) Leases
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is
more representative of the time pattern in which the economic benefits are from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising from
under operating leases are recognised as an expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

(y) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss on the period in which
they are incurred.

(z) Royalty expense
Royalty expense is calculated at 12.5% of production.
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2.  Profit from operations

(a) Revenue

Revenue consisted of the following items:
Revenue from the sale of oil

Rig contracting revenue

Bank deposits interest revenue

(b) Profit before income tax

Profit before income tax has been arrived at after charging the following expenses.
Depreciation and Amortisation

Depreciation of non-current assets

Amortisation of non-current assets

Finance Costs
Interest on bank overdrafts and loans
Less: amounts included in the cost of qualifying assets

Unwinding of discount in provision for restoration

Operating lease rental expenses:
Minimum lease payments

Employee benefit expense
Employee benefits

Post employment benefits:

Defined contribution plans

Index to Financial Statements

2008
$ 000

52,039
340
892

53,271

2,184
2,650

4,834

485
(485)

123

224

9,210

142

9,352

2007
$ 000

39,338

614

39,952

1,710
2,478

4,188

196
(196)

117

15

7,875

110

7,985
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3. Income taxes

(a) Income tax recognised in profit or loss

Tax expense comprises:
Current tax expense
With-holding taxes on dividends

Deferred tax expense relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences

Total tax expense
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3. Income taxes (cont d)
The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax accounting profit from operations reconciles to the income tax expense in the financial
statements as follows:

$ 000 $ 000

2008 2007
Profit before taxation 18,011 14,003
Income tax expense at 30% (i) 5,403 4,201
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions (2,063) (1,507)
3,340 2,694
With-holding tax on dividends 1,457 207
Disallowable items 39 356
Other 817 (28)
Income tax expense 5,653 3,229
(1)  30% reflects the statutory company tax rate in Australia
(b) Current tax liabilities
Current tax payables:
Income tax payable attributable to:
Subsidiaries 17
(c) Deferred tax liabilities
2008
Foreign
exchange
differences
Opening Charged to charged to Closing
Balance income reserves balance
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000
Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Oil properties in production 11,107 472) (346) 10,289
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Property plant and equipment
Exploration assets

Gross deferred tax assets:
Receivables

Inventories

Provisions

Other

2,272 (98)
1,148 1,587
14,527 1,017
(662) 28
(295) (40)
(609) (70)
(38) 152
(1,604) 70
12,923 1,087

(70)
28

(388)

50

(338)

2,104
2,763

15,156

(614)

(328)

(664)
122

(1,484)

13,672

The deferred taxation balances represent the amount of taxation potentially payable if the assets and liabilities were sold by the subsidiary
operating entities at their carrying value at 31 December 2008. No taxation would be payable if the subsidiary companies were sold at balance

date for their carrying value.
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(¢c) Deferred tax liabilities (cont d)

Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Oil properties in production
Property plant and equipment
Exploration assets

Gross deferred tax assets:
Receivables

Inventories

Provisions

Other

Unrecognised deferred tax liabilities

Opening
Balance
$ 000

9,288
1,942

11,230

(69)
(301)
(553)
(171)

(1,094)

10,136

The following deferred tax assets have not been brought to account as assets:

Tax losses revenue

4. Remuneration of auditors

Auditor of the parent entity
Audit or review of the financial report

Table of Contents

2007

Charged to

income
$ 000

907

142
1,075

2,124

(549)
31
®)

140
(383)

1,741

Foreign
exchange
differences
charged to Closing
reserves balance
$ 000 $ 000
912 11,107
188 2,272
73 1,148
1,173 14,527
44) (662)
25) (295)
(G28) (609)
) (38)
(127) (1,604)

1,046 12,923
2008 2007
$ 000 $ 000
206 139
206 139
2008 2007
$ $

80,000 74,490
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Related practice of the parent entity auditor
Audit or review of the financial report 37,000 22,615

The auditor of Incremental Petroleum Limited is Deloitte Touch Tohmatsu

5. Trade and other receivables

2008 2007
$ 000 $ 000
Trade receivables (i) 5,362 7,902

(i) The average credit period on sales of goods is 30 days. No interest is charged on the trade receivables. An allows is made for
estimated irrecoverable trade receivable amounts arising from the past sale of goods, determined by reference to past default
experience.

Before accepting any new customers the Group assesses the potential customer s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. These are

reviewed annually.

At reporting date that are no debtors past due date and all amounts are considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these

balances.
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6. Inventories

Oil

Maintenance materials

7.  Other current assets

GST recoverable

Income tax recoverable

Prepayments

8.  Property, plant and equipment - 2008

Gross carrying amount
Balance at start of the year

Additions
Disposals

Net foreign exchange translation differences

Balance at end of the year

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at start of the year

Depreciation expense
Disposals

Net foreign exchange translation differences

Balance at end of the year

Table of Contents

Plant and

equipment
$ 000

16,966

1,773
(78)
(430)

18,231

2,508

1,803
(78)
(10)

4,223

101 200
2,594 2,008
2,695 2,208
2008 2007
$ 000 $ 000
179
209
351 588
739 588
Well head
assets Total
$ 000 $ 000

4,076 21,042
1,773

(78)

(120) (550)

3,956 22,187

917 3,425
381 2,184
(78)
(12) (22)
1,286 5,509
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Net book value
As at 31 December 2008 14,008 2,670
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Property, plant and equipment 2007

Gross carrying amount

Balance at start of the year

Additions

Net foreign exchange translation differences

Balance at end of the year

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at start of the year

Depreciation expense

Net foreign exchange translation differences

Balance at end of the year

Net book value
As at 31 December 2007

9.  Oil Properties in production

Gross carrying amount

Balance at start of the year

Additions

Net foreign exchange translation differences

Balance at end of the year

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at start of the year

Amortisation expense

Net foreign exchange translation differences

Balance at end of the year
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Plant and

equipment
$ 000

10,602

5,054
1,310

16,966

1,000
1,328
178

2,506

14,460

Well head

assets
$ 000

3,734

342

4,076

466
382
69

917

3,159

2008
$ 000

66,300

5,814
(1,742)

70,372

5,763
2,650
(65)

8,348

Total
$ 000

14,336

5,054
1,652

21,042

1,466
1,710
248

3,424

17,618

2007
$ 000

55,658

5,190
5,452

66,300

2,855
2,478
430

5,763
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Net book value
Balance at end of the year
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10. Exploration Assets

At cost

Reconciliation of movement:

Balance at start of the year

Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Purchase of exploration interests

Net foreign exchange translation differences
Capitalised interest

Balance at end of the year

2008
$ 000
24,107

11,567
1,470
10,707
(122)
485

24,107

2007
$ 000
11,567

1,027
3,759
5,999
586
196

11,567

Ultimate recoupment of this expenditure is dependent upon the continuance of the Group s right to tenure of the areas of interest and the
discovery of commercially viable oil and gas reserves, their successful development and exploitation, or, alternatively, sale of the respective

areas of interest at an amount at least equal to the book value.

11. Borrowings

Secured at amortised cost
Current
Bank loan (i)

Non-current
Bank loan (i)

Disclosed in the financial statements as:
Current borrowings
Non-current borrowings

2008
$ 000

4,033

2,780

4,033
2,780

6,813

2007
$ 000

1,332

5,099

1,332
5,099

6,431

(1)  The loan is for an original amount of $US 5,500 thousand, received on 6 August 2007. No repayments of principal were required for

the first 12 months of the loan and thereafter the principal and interest are being repaid over 24 months commencing on 6 August

2008. The rate of interest on the loan is a floating rate which during the year averaged 8% (2007: 7.6%). The loan is collateralised by
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a charge over the Group s oil sales receivables.

F-29

Index to Financial Statements

80



Edgar Filing: TRANSATLANTIC PETROLEUM LTD. - Form POS AM

Table of Conten
Index to Financial men
Incremental Petroleum Limited

Financial Report

12. Trade and other payables

2008
$ 000
Trade payables (i) 2,600
Other payables 903
3,503
(1)  Credit terms averaging 30 days from invoice date apply to payables
13. Provisions
Current provisions
Employee benefits 355
Non-current provisions
2,964

Restoration provision

2007

$ 000

2,682
972

3,654

122

2,923

The provision for restoration costs represents the present value of the directors best estimate of the future sacrifice of economic benefits that may

be required to restore the Selmo oilfield.

Balance at the start of the year 2,923

Unwinding of discount 123

Foreign exchange translation difference (82)

Balance at the end of the year 2,964
F-30
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14. Issued capital

79,735,605 fully paid ordinary shares (2007: 67,424,350)

2008
$ 000
66,343

2007
$ 000
54,466

Ordinary shares carry one vote per share and the right to dividends. Changes to the then Corporations Law abolished the authorised capital and
par value concept in relation to share capital from 1 July 1998. Therefore, the company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital and

issued shares do not have a par value.

Fully paid ordinary shares
Balance at the start of the year

Issue of shares to PEMI Employees Incremental Petroleum Limited Equity
Participation Plan*

Issue of shares pursuant to placements

Issue of shares pursuant to share Purchase Plan

Cost of issues

Issue of shares pursuant to dividend re-investment plan™**

Capital return

Balance at end of financial year

Treasury shares*

Balance at the start and end of the year

Issue of shares to PEMI Employees Incremental Petroleum Limited Equity
Participation Plan*

Balance at end of financial year

Total fully paid ordinary shares net of treasury shares

2008
No.

67,424,350

10,000,000
1,162,000

1,149,255

79,735,605

(224,350)

(224,350)

79,511,255

2008 2007
$ 000 No.

54,466 67,200,000

224,350
10,000
1,162
(525)
1,240

66,343 67,424,350

(224,350)

(224,350)

66,343 67,200,000

2007
$ 000

57,838

(3,372)

54,466

54,466

* These shares have been treated as an in substance option for the purposes of the preparation of these accounts. The shares were
issued in January 2007 to the trustee of the PEMI Employees Incremental Petroleum Limited Equity Participation Plan Trust Deed.
The shares allotted to the Trust are held pursuant to the PEMI Employees Incremental Petroleum Limited Equity Participation Plan
on behalf of all of the Turkish employees of Petroleum Exploration Mediterranean International Pty Ltd.

*%*  As an alternative to receiving a cash dividend, shareholders can elect to reinvest their dividend in acquiring additional Incremental
shares under the dividend reinvestment plan at a discount to the prevailing share price at record date.

Index to Financial Statements

82



Edgar Filing: TRANSATLANTIC PETROLEUM LTD. - Form POS AM

2008
No.
Share Options
Balance at the start and end of the year 8,800,000

Share options

At the date of this report there were 8,800,000 options over unissued fully paid ordinary shares on issue comprising:

6,800,000 unlisted options exercisable at $1.20 per option before 30 June 2010.

2,000,000 unlisted options exercisable at $1.45 per option before 30 June 2010.
Share options carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights.
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15. Reserves

Foreign currency translation
Employee equity-settled benefits reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve
Balance at the start of the year
Translation of foreign operations

Balance at the end of the year

2008
$ 000
(746)
558

(188)

1,260
(2,006)

(746)

2007

$ 000

1,260
558

1,818

(5,001)
6,261

1,260

Exchange differences relating to the translation from the functional currencies of the Group s foreign controlled entities into Australian dollars

are brought to account by entries made directly to the foreign currency translation reserve.

Employee equity-settled benefits reserve

Balance at the start of the year

Option premium on issue of shares to PEMI Employees Incremental Petroleum Limited Equity

Participation Plan

Balance at the end of the year

558 310
248
558 558

The equity-settled employee benefits reserve arose from the grant of entitlements to shares to employees in Turkey. Subsequent to year end,

TransAtlantic Australia Pty Ltd acquired 100% of the share capital of the company.

16. Retained earnings

Balance at the start of the year
Net profit
Dividends paid (i)

Balance at the end of the year

Table of Contents

2008
$ 000
21,853
12,358
(4,725)

29,486

2007
$ 000
13,102
10,774
(2,023)

21,853
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(i)  Of dividends paid in the year ended 31 December 2008 $3,485,000 were paid in cash and $1,240,000 were paid in
accordance with the dividend reinvestment plan as set out in note 14.
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17.

18.

Subsidiaries

Name of entity

Parent entity

Incremental Petroleum Limited
Subsidiaries (Selmo Qilfield entities)
Dorchester Master Limited Partnership (i)
Incremental Petroleum (Selmo) Pty Ltd (ii)
DMLP GP (ii)

DMLP LP (ii)

Petroleum Exploration Mediterranean International Pty Ltd
USA entities (iii)

Incremental Petroleum (USA) INC
Incremental Petroleum (USA) KMD LLC
Incremental Petroleum (USA) Mc F LLC
Incremental Petroleum (USA) SEKND LLC
Other subsidiaries

Incremental Petroleum Iraq Pty Ltd
Incremental Petroleum (Butmah) Pty Ltd
Incremental Petroleum (Qara Chauk)Pty Ltd

(1) Joint operator of the Selmo oilfield

Country of domicile

and incorporation
Australia

USA
Australia
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
Australia

USA
USA
USA
USA

Australia
Australia
Australia

2008
Ownership

Interest
%0

100
100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100

100
100
100

2007
Ownership

Interest
%0

100
100
100
100
100

100
100
100

(i) Entities acquired as part of the Selmo oilfield acquisition having no material assets or liabilities other than ownership interests in the

Selmo oilfield.

(iii) During the period the company incorporated these companies to hold and develop the acquired interests in the USA.

Related party disclosures

(a) Equity interests in related parties

Equity interests in subsidiaries

Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 17 to the financial statements.

Equity interests in joint ventures

Details of interests in joint ventures are included in Note 23 to the financial statements

(b) Parent entities

The parent entity in the Group is Incremental Petroleum Limited.
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The ultimate Australian parent entity is TransAtlantic Australia Pty Ltd (effective 9 March 2009)
The ultimate parent entity is TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp.
(c) Key management compensation

The aggregate compensation of the key management personnel of the Group and the Company is set out below:

2008 2007
$ $
Short-term employment benefits 3,269,856 2,707,077
Post-employment benefits 77,900 77,325

3,347,156 2,784,402

F-33

Index to Financial Statements

87



Edgar Filing: TRANSATLANTIC PETROLEUM LTD. - Form POS AM

Table of Conten
Index to Financial m
Incremental Petroleum Limited

Financial Report

n

The following table discloses the remuneration of the key management personnel of the Group in 2008:

C Cronin
G McGann
M Stowell
C Hyder

J Asquith
Sandy

S Okul

V Koehler
S Hendry
M Veysi Alyamac
Total

Salary
$

90,000
641,730
60,000
60,000
168,383
14,750
410,324
317,288
199,122
172,898
2,134,495

Short term employment benefits

Additional
Fees(i)
$
64,000

294,800

358,800

Bonus Non-monetary(ii)
$ $
97,640 289,232
25,000 7,867
25,645 59,368
20,256 83,573
32,275 120,817
11,284 3,604
212,100 564,461

Post-
employment
benefits
Super-
annuation
$

8,100

5,400
5,400
44,250
14,750

77,900

Total
$

162,100
1,028,602
360,200
65,400
245,500
29,500
495,337
421,117
352,214
187,786
3,347,756

(i) Additional fees includes payments for substantial professional work associated with the activities of the company performed by
Directors beyond the amounts normally expected from a non-executive role. Payments were made based on actual time on specific
matters at commercial rates.

(i) Non-monetary amounts include expatriate location costs, vehicles, housing and healthcare.

The following table discloses the remuneration of the key management personnel of the Group in 2007:

C Cronin
G McGann
M Stowell
C Hyder

J Asquith
S Okul

V Koehler
S Hendry
C Gaydali
Total

Table of Contents

Salary
$

82,500
541,972
55,000
55,000
136,514
311,983
278,127
197,366
182,650
1,841,112

Short term employment benefits

Additional
Fees(i)
$
30,000

219,000

249,000

Bonus

$

50,000
16,552
12,582
21,389
4,835
105,358

Non-monetary(ii)

$

185,257

13,486
41,983
82,408
127,719
3,427
454,280

PEMI
participation
plan (iii)
$

13,674
17,388
13,442
12,823
57,327

Post-
employment
benefits

Super-

annuation
$
7,425

4,950

4,950
60,000

77,325

Total
$

119,925
727,229
278,950
59,950
260,000
384,192
390,505
359,916
203,735
2,784,402
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(i) Additional fees includes payments for substantial professional work associated with the activities of the company performed by
Directors beyond the amounts normally expected from a non-executive role. Payments were made based on actual time on specific
matters at commercial rates.

(ii)) Non-monetary amounts include expatriate location costs, vehicles, housing and healthcare.

(iii) Share based payments relate to entitlements under the PEMI Employees Incremental Petroleum Limited Equity Participation Plan.
The in-substance option will vest within one year of grant. None were vested or exercised or lapsed during the year.
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19. Subsequent events
Subsequent to the year end, TransAtlantic Australia Pty Ltd acquired 100% of the share capital of the company. The company was de-listed
from the Australian Stock Exchange on 26 March 2009. No financial effect of the takeover can be estimated at this stage.

Except for the foregoing, there has not been any matter or circumstance, other than that referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto,
that has arisen since the end of the financial year, that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.

20. Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement

2008 2007
$ 000 $ 000
a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks
and investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 11,843 3,787

(b) Reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year 12,358 10,774
Depreciation and amortisation 4,834 4,188
Interest income received and receivable (892) (614)
Foreign exchange differences 1,428 (128)
Employee share scheme 248
Increase/(decrease) in current tax liability (218) 139
Increase in deferred tax balances 1,086 1,741

Changes in net assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisition of businesses:
(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Trade and other receivables 2,127 (1,606)
Inventories (531) (306)
Other assets 304 (199)
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Payables 700 (337)
Current provisions 231 (102)
Non-current provisions 123 117
Net cash from operating activities 21,550 13,915
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21. Financial instruments
(a) Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The strategy of the Group is to maintain sufficient capital to continue operations and provide for
foreseeable future capital requirements. Pursuant to this strategy a capital return of 5 cents per share was made in 2007. No capital return was
made in 2008.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to equity holders, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings.

The Group s risk management committee reviews the capital structure on an annual basis or otherwise as required. As a part of this review the
committee considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the committee the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of debt.

The Group s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2007.

(b) Categories of financial instruments

2008 2007
$ 000 $ 000
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 11,843 3,787
Loans and receivables (excluding cash and cash equivalents) 5,362 7,902
Financial liabilities
Payables 4,003 3,654
Borrowings 6,813 6,431

(c) Financial risk management objectives

The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes. The use of
financial derivatives is governed by the Group s policies approved by the board of directors, which provide written principles on the use of
financial derivatives.

The Group s operations expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in crude oil prices and foreign currency exchange rates.
(d) Oil price risk management

The Group s oil selling price is determined by monthly average US Dollars denominated prices in spot crude oil market prices, and hence has
exposure to oil price fluctuations. Oil price exposures are managed within approved policy parameters potentially utilising forward oil price
swap contracts and other hedging instruments.

In 2008 no forward oil price contracts were entered into (2007 : Nil).

Qil price sensitivity
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The following table details the Group s sensitivity to a 30% increase and decrease in the oil price. (2007: 10%) This 30% (2007: 10%)is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting oil price risk internally to key management personnel and represents management s assessment of the
possible change in oil prices. The sensitivity analysis includes current year sales levels varied by a 30% (2007: 10%) movement in oil price.

2008 2007
$ 000 $ 000
Profit or loss 15,612 3,933
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21. Financial instruments (continued)
(e) Foreign currency risk management

The Group s oil selling price is determined by converting monthly average US Dollars denominated prices in spot crude oil market prices into
New Turkish Lira, and hence has exposure to exchange rate fluctuations. The Group s operations in Turkey are conducted using the New Turkish
Lira. The Group has undertaken borrowings denominated in US Dollars.

Operating assets and liabilities are denominated in New Turkish Lira and translated to Australian Dollars at balance sheet dates.
Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters.
In 2008 no forward foreign exchange contracts were entered into (2007 : Nil).

The carrying amounts of the Group s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date is as follows:

Assets Liabilities
2008 2007 2008 2006
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000
US Dollars 2,823 2,823 8,044 1,323
Turkish Lira 13,015 12,803 1,211 8,297
Foreign currency sensitivity

The Group is mainly exposed to US dollars (USD) and the New Turkish Lira (YTL). The following table details the Group s sensitivity to a 20%
(2007: 10%) increase and decrease in the Australian dollar against the relevant foreign currencies. This 20% (2007: 10%) is the sensitivity rate
used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management s assessment of the possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis only includes outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the period end for a 20% (2007: 10%) change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans where
the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower.

2008 2007

$ 000 $ 000
US Dollars 1,363 522
Turkish Lira 992 1,088

Note: Changed translation rates at the balance sheet date would require adjustment against the Group s foreign currency translation reserve and
would not affect reported profits.

(f) Interest rate risk management
The Group is subject to interest rate risk exposure through its cash and cash equivalents and borrowings. These are at floating interest rates.

Interest rate sensitivity
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The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on exposure to interest rates applicable to cash and cash equivalents at the reporting
date and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the year. A 200 (2007: 50) basis
point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management s
assessment of the possible change in interest rates for cash and cash equivalents.

At the reporting date, if interest rates had been 200 (2007: 50) basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group s:

net profit after tax in relation to interest on cash and cash equivalents would increase / decrease by $166 thousand (2007 : $15
thousand).
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on exposure to interest rates applicable to borrowings at the reporting date and the
stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the year. A 200 (2007: 50) basis point increase
or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management s assessment of the
possible change in interest rates for borrowings.
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Interest rate sensitivity (cont d)

At the reporting date, if interest rates had been 200 (2007: 50) basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group s:

net cash flow (after tax) in relation to interest on borrowings would increase / decrease by $109 thousand (2007 : $26 thousand).
(g) Liquidity risk management

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash
flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The following table details the Group s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities at balance date. At the end of the previous
financial year, the Group did not have any financial liabilities with contractual maturities of more than one month. The tables have been drawn
up based on undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based in the earliest date that the Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and cash flows. The adjustment column represents the possible future cash flows attributable to the instrument included in the
maturity analysis which are not included in the carrying amount of the financial liability in the balance sheet.

Weighted
average
effective Less than 1-3 3 months
interest 1 month months tolyear 1-Syears Adjustments Total
rate $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000
2008
Borrowings 7.60% 339 705 3,092 3,380 (703) 6,813
Payables 3,503 500 4,003
2007
Borrowings 8.00% 43 86 1,967 5,129 (793) 6,431
Payables 3,654 3,654

The company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual
cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The following table details the company s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities at balance date. At the end of the previous
financial year, the company did not have any financial liabilities with contractual maturities of more than one month. The table has been drawn
up based on undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based in the earliest date that the company can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and cash flows. The adjustment column represents the possible future cash flows attributable to the instrument included in the
maturity analysis which are not included in the carrying amount of the financial liability in the consolidated balance sheet.

Weighted Less than 1-3 3 months 1-5 years Adjustments Total
average 1 month months to 1 year $ 000 $ 000 $ 000
effective $000  $000  $ 000
interest
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rate

2008
Payables 3,503
2007
Payables 216
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(h) Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a sales customer or counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy customers and counterparties.

Included in trade accounts receivable are substantial amounts due from Turkiye Petrolleri Anonim Ortakligi, (National Oil and Natural Gas
Company of Turkey) in relation to the sale of all oil production and accordingly the Group has a significant credit risk exposure to this entity.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents the Group s maximum
exposure to credit risk.

(i) Fair value of financial instruments

The directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated financial statements
approximates their fair value

22. Economic dependency
All oil produced by operating entities is purchased solely by Turkiye Petrolleri Anonim Ortakligi, (National Oil and Natural Gas Company of
Turkey) a Turkish national entity.

23. Jointly controlled assets and operations
The Group has entered into a farm-in to a gas prospect in the Thrace basin, Turkey ( Edirne Farm-in ). During the previous year under the terms
of the Edirne farm-in the Group completed the earned a 15 % interest in the licence for expenditure of $3,000 thousand.

In March 2007 Group acquired a further 30% interest in the project during the year for a purchase price of $5,999 thousand.

In May 2008 the Group acquired a 10% interest in a joint venture in USA and entered into farm-in agreements to potentially acquire a 50%
interest in two other areas in USA.

The Group s interest, as a venturer, in assets employed in the above jointly controlled operations and assets is detailed below. The amounts are
included in the consolidated financial statements in their respective categories.

2008 2007
$ 000 $ 000
Non-current assets
Exploration assets (see note 10) 24,107 11,567
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24. Commitments

The Group leases administration offices in Perth Istanbul and Ankara. Lease payments in Turkey are made annually. Lease payments in

Australia are made monthly

Lease commitments

Non-cancellable operating lease payments
Not longer than 1 year

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years

Index to Financial Statements
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Capital expenditure commitments

Exploration Expenditure
Not longer than 1 year 2,521
The Group is actively developing oil and gas assets in USA and Turkey.

It is anticipated that the Group will fund the costs of two wells in USA within the next 12 months to test shallow (approx 5,000 feet) gas targets.
The further development of the shallow gas project would require the construction of a gas processing facility. Under the terms of the farm-in
agreements the Group is required to fund the costs of completion of the wells and the facilities to earn a 50% working interest in the projects. In
Turkey the Group has commenced engineering studies for a gas processing plant in which it has a 55% interest.

Funding of these projects is anticipated to be achieved from existing cash reserves, internal cash flows from operations or from debt facilities.

25. Contingent liabilities and assets

The company has received an ambit claim for compensation for loss of income from purported landowners at the Selmo field. The case is being
vigorously defended by the company and Turkish government authorities. Except for the foregoing, Directors are not aware of any material
contingent liabilities or assets at the date of the financial report.

As part of the acquisition of additional interests in the Edirne gas project the Group may be required to make additional payments contingent on
future gas sales from the licence area. The contingencies and the amounts payable are:

Amount
Contingency payable
Any consecutive three month period between 1 April 2009 and 1 December 2009 when the average production of  $US 500,000,
gas from the Edirne licence is in excess of 8.5 million cubic feet per day.

inclusive of VAT
Any consecutive three month period between 1 January 2010 and 31 December 2010 when the average $US 500,000,
production of gas from the Edirne licence is in excess of 13 million cubic feet per day

inclusive of VAT

26. Interests in production leases and exploration licences
At the date of this report, the Group had interests in the following production leases and exploration licences:

Reference Name %

No. ARI/PMI-DML/547-829 Selmo Oil field lease 100
No. 4121,4122 Adana 100
No. 3969 to 3972 Siirt 100
No. 3839 Edirne 60%
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No. 4262 Atesler 100% (diluting to 40%)
Various Kettleman Middle Dome 10%

Various McFlurrey Earning 50%

Various South East Kettleman North Dome Earning 50%

27. Dividends

2008 2007
Cents per Total Cents per
share $ 000 share
Fully paid ordinary shares
Interim dividend, unfranked: 3.0 2,023 3.0
Balance at the end of the year 3.0 2,023 3.0
Unrecognised amounts
Fully paid ordinary shares
Final dividend, unfranked: 3.0
3.0
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On 26 February 2008, the directors declared an unfranked final dividend of 3 cents per share to the holders of fully paid ordinary shares in
respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2007.

28. Other Company Information
REGISTERED OFFICE

20 Howard Street

Perth WA 6000

Tel: +61 8 9481 8696

Fax: +61 8 9481 2394

E-mail: office @incrementalpetroleum.com
TURKEY OFFICE

Karakoy Ticeret Merkezi

Kermeralti Caddesi No: 24 Kat: 7

Karakoy ISTANBUL

Tel: +90 212 334 8900

Fax: +90 212 334 8998

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Group is the operation of the Selmo oilfield in Turkey and exploration for oil and gas in Turkey and internationally.
Principal objective

The principal objective of the Group is to acquire low risk oil and gas assets and apply world class technical expertise to develop the assets and
their productivity. The Selmo oilfield in Turkey was acquired in October 2005 pursuant to this objective.

The subsidiary entities that own and/or operate the Selmo oilfield and are the joint venture partners in the Edirne gas project are set out in Note
17 to the financial statements.

The main performance indicator used by management is production.
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The Group is currently focused on the enhancement of the Selmo oilfield and the exploration and evaluation of the Edirne gas project. The
financial results of the Selmo oilfield field operations are significantly influenced by the prevailing oil price, the volume of production achieved,
and the costs of production.
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42,838,451 shares

TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.

Common Shares

Prospectus
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PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 13.  Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution
The following table sets forth the costs and expenses expected to be incurred by us in connection with the offering described in this registration
statement. All amounts are estimates except the registration and filing fees.

Expenses Amount
Securities and Exchange Commission registration fee $ 9,240
Printing and engraving expenses 0
Legal fees and expenses 150,000*
Accounting fees and expenses 100,000*
Engineering fees and expenses 5,000%*
Miscellaneous 0
Total $264,240*

*  Estimate.

Each selling shareholder will be responsible for any underwriting discounts, brokerage fees or commissions and taxes of any kind (including,
without limitation, transfer taxes) with respect to any disposition, sale or transfer of the shares being registered and for any legal, accounting and
other expenses incurred by such selling shareholder.

Item 14.  Indemnification of Directors and Officers

The Bye-Laws require us to indemnify our officers and directors against all liabilities, loss, damage or expense incurred or suffered by such
person in such capacity or by reason of any act done, conceived or omitted in the conduct of our business or in the discharge of such person s
duties; provided that such indemnification shall not extend to any matter which would render it void pursuant to Bermuda law. Bermuda law
permits us to indemnify directors and officers against liability attaching to them arising from their duties but such indemnification may not
extend to acts of fraud or dishonesty. The Bye-Laws require us to advance funds to directors or officers for their defense upon receipt of an
undertaking to repay the funds if any allegation of fraud or dishonesty is proved, and only if such advance is specifically authorized in
accordance with Bye-Law 44.6. The Bye-Laws permit the purchase of indemnity insurance.

Item 15.  Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
On November 24, 2009, we closed an offering of 48,298,790 common shares at a price of Cdn$2.35 per common share for gross proceeds of
approximately Cdn$113.5 million. Canaccord Capital Corporation ( Canaccord ), Genuity Capital Markets ( Genuity ), Raymond James Ltd.
( Raymond James ) and Thomas Weisel Partners Canada Inc. ( Thomas Weisel , together with Canaccord, Genuity and Raymond James, the
Underwriters ) offered and sold 21,415,939 of the common shares pursuant to an underwriting agreement to certain non-U.S. purchasers, and we
offered and sold 22,627,451 common shares to certain U.S. purchasers and 4,255,400 common shares to Dalea Partners, LP ( Dalea ), an entity
owned and controlled by our chairman, N. Malone Mitchell, 3rd. The Underwriters and their affiliates and agents received aggregate fees of
approximately Cdn$5.7 million. Concurrently with the offering, we completed a private placement to two accredited investors (the Investors ) in
the U.S. of 750,000 common shares at Cdn$2.35 for gross proceeds to us of approximately Cdn$1.76 million. The common shares in these
offerings that were issued to non-U.S. purchasers were issued pursuant to registration in Canada in accordance with Canadian securities laws and
pursuant to an exemption from registration in the United States under Regulation S of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities
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U.S. person. In addition, we implemented offering restrictions in accordance with the requirements of Regulation S and the common shares were
issued with appropriate legends in accordance with Regulation S. The offer and sale of common shares to U.S. persons, Dalea and the Investors
was conducted without general solicitation or advertising in reliance upon Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 of Regulation D
promulgated under the Securities Act. Each of the U.S. purchasers, Dalea and Investors represented that it is an accredited investor as defined in
Rule 501 of Regulation D and confirmed that the common shares were acquired for investment purposes and not with a view to resale or
distribution. The common shares issued to U.S. persons also contained appropriate legends.

On June 22, 2009, we closed an offering of 98,377,300 common shares at a price of Cdn$1.65 per common share for gross proceeds of
approximately Cdn$162.3 million. Canaccord and Genuity offered and sold 14,053,300 common shares pursuant to an underwriting agreement
to certain non-U.S. purchasers, and we offered and sold 42,506,000 common shares to certain U.S. purchasers and 41,818,000 common shares to
Dalea. Canaccord, Genuity and their affiliates and agents received aggregate fees of Cdn$5,599,371. The common shares that were issued to
non-U.S. purchasers were issued pursuant to registration in Canada in accordance with Canadian securities laws and pursuant to an exemption
from registration in the United States under Regulation S of the Securities Act. Each non-U.S. purchaser certified that it was not a U.S. person
and was not acquiring the shares for the account or benefit of a U.S. person. In addition, we implemented offering restrictions in accordance with
the requirements of Regulation S and the common shares were issued with appropriate legends in accordance with Regulation S. The offer and
sale of common shares to U.S. persons and to Dalea was conducted without general solicitation or advertising in reliance upon Section 4(2) of
the Securities Act and Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act. Each of the U.S. purchasers and Dalea represented that it
isan accredited investor as defined in Rule 501 of Regulation D and confirmed that the common shares were acquired for investment purposes
and not with a view to resale or distribution. The common shares issued to U.S. persons also contained appropriate legends.

In connection with our acquisition of Incremental Petroleum Limited ( Incremental ), on April 8, 2009, in exchange for the assignment of all
outstanding options to acquire shares of Incremental to us, we paid the Incremental option holders an aggregate of $721,000 in cash and issued
them an aggregate of 101,585 common shares and 829,960 common share purchase warrants. Each warrant is exercisable through April 2, 2012
and entitles the holder to purchase one common share at an exercise price of $1.20 per share. The common shares and common share purchase
warrants were issued pursuant to an exemption from registration under Regulation S of the Securities Act. Each option holder certified that it
was not a U.S. person and was not acquiring the securities for the account of a U.S. person. In addition, we implemented offering restrictions in
accordance with the requirements of Regulation S and the securities were issued with appropriate legends in accordance with Regulation S.

On December 30, 2008, we closed a private placement (the Private Placement ) in which we issued an aggregate of 35,416,667 common shares at
a purchase price of $1.20 per common share, resulting in gross proceeds of $42,500,000. We issued common shares to the following purchasers:

(i) 34,208,917 common shares to Dalea; (ii) 250,000 common shares to Matthew McCann; (iii) 200,000 common shares to Monte Bell;

(iv) 85,000 common shares to Barbara and Terry Pope; (v) 172,750 common shares to Riata TransAtlantic, LLC; and (vi) 500,000 common

shares to Gillco Energy, LP. To our knowledge, each of the purchasers paid for the common shares from its own funds. The offer of common
shares in the Private Placement was conducted without general solicitation or advertising in reliance upon Section 4(2) of the Securities Act, and
Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act. Each of the purchasers represented that it is an accredited investor as defined in
Rule 501 of Regulation D and confirmed that the common shares were acquired for investment purposes and not with a view to resale or
distribution, and the common shares were issued with appropriate legends.

On September 19, 2008, we entered into a Purchase Agreement (the Purchase Agreement ) with Longfellow Energy, LP, a Texas limited
partnership ( Longfellow ), pursuant to which Longfellow agreed to sell to us all of the outstanding shares of Longe Energy Limited, a Bermuda
limited company and wholly owned subsidiary of Longfellow ( Longe ), in exchange for (i) 39,583,333 of our common shares at a purchase price
per common share of $1.20 and (ii) 10 million common share purchase warrants. The common share purchase warrants are exercisable until
September 19, 2011 and, upon exercise, will entitle the holder to purchase one common share for each purchase warrant at an exercise price of
$3.00 per common share. The offer of common shares and common share purchase warrants was conducted without general solicitation or
advertising in reliance upon Section 4(2) of the Securities Act, and Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act. Longfellow
represented that it
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isan accredited investor as defined in Rule 501 of Regulation D and confirmed that the common shares and common share purchase warrants
were acquired for investment purposes and not with a view to resale or distribution, and the common shares were issued with appropriate
legends.

On May 30, 2008 we closed the second stage of our private placement pursuant to that certain Investment Agreement (the Investment
Agreement ), dated March 28, 2008, by and between TransAtlantic and Riata Management, LLC ( Riata ), an affiliate of Longfellow. In the
second stage of the private placement, we issued an aggregate of 25 million common shares at Cdn$0.36 per share for gross proceeds of

Cdn$9 million. The shares were issued to Dalea and to certain friends and family of N. Malone Mitchell, 3, the head of Riata. To our
knowledge, each of the purchasers paid for the common shares from its own funds. We relied on the exemption from registration provided by
Section 4(2) and Rule 506 of Regulation D under the Securities Act, for sales to accredited investors (as such term is defined in Rule 501 of
Regulation D). Each purchaser represented to us that it is an accredited investor, and the common shares were issued with appropriate legends.

On April 8, 2008, we closed the first stage of our private placement pursuant to the Investment Agreement in which we issued 10 million

common shares to Dalea at Cdn$0.30 per common share generating gross proceeds of Cdn$3 million. To our knowledge, Dalea paid for the

common shares from its own funds. We relied on the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(2) and Rule 506 of Regulation D under

the Securities Act, for sales to accredited investors (as such term is defined in Rule 501 of Regulation D). Dalea represented to us that it is an
accredited investor, and the common shares were issued with appropriate legends.

In April 2007, we entered into a $3.0 million short-term standby bridge loan from Quest Capital Corp. ( Quest ). We issued 503,823 common
shares to Quest at an aggregate value of approximately $359,000 as we drew on the loan. The common shares were issued pursuant to an
exemption from registration under Regulation S of the Securities Act. Quest was not a U.S. person and was not acquiring the shares for the
account or benefit of a U.S. person. In addition, we implemented offering restrictions in accordance with the requirements of Regulation S.

Item 16.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
A list of exhibits filed herewith is contained in the Exhibit Index that immediately precedes such exhibits and is incorporated by reference
herein.

Item 17.  Undertakings
The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

1. To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:

i To include any prospectus required by section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;

ii.  To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the
most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental
change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or
decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which
was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be
reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the
changes in volume and price represent no more than 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set
forth in the Calculation of Registration Fee table in the effective registration statement.
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iii.  To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the
registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement;

2. That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall
be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at
that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
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3. To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain
unsold at the termination of the offering.

4. That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser, each prospectus filed
pursuant to Rule 424(b) as part of a registration statement relating to an offering, other than registration statements relying on
Rule 430B or other than prospectuses filed in reliance on Rule 430A, shall be deemed to be part of and included in the
registration statement as of the date it is first used after effectiveness. Provided, however, that no statement made in a
registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed
incorporated by reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a
purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such first use, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the
registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately
prior to such date of first use.
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons
of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and
Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a
claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or
controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling
person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by
controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as
expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the
Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized in the City of Dallas, State of Texas, on April 29,
2010.

TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.

By: /s/ MaTtTtHEW W. McCaNN
Matthew W. McCann
Chief Executive Officer
POWER OF ATTORNEY

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities
and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl MattHEW W. McCANN Director and Chief Executive Officer April 29, 2010
Matthew W. McCann (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Hiba KouveLis Vice President and Chief Financial April 29, 2010
Hilda Kouvelis Officer (Principal Financial Officer

and Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/  JerrrReY S. MEcoM Vice President and Corporate April 29, 2010
Jeffrey S. Mecom Secretary
* Chairman of the Board of Directors April 29, 2010

N. Malone Mitchell, 3rd

* Director April 29, 2010
Brian E. Bayley

/s/ Scort C. LARSEN Director and President April 29, 2010
Scott C. Larsen

* Director April 29, 2010
Alan C. Moon

* Director April 29, 2010
Mel G. Riggs

* Director April 29, 2010

Michael D. Winn

*By: /s/ JErFrReY S. MEcoM
Jeffrey S. Mecom
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EXHIBIT INDEX

2.1 Purchase Agreement, dated September 19, 2008, by and between Longfellow Energy, LP and TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated September 19, 2008, filed with the
SEC on September 25, 2008).

3.1 Certificate of Continuance of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd., dated October 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 1, 2009, filed with the SEC on October 7, 2009).

3.2 Memorandum of Continuance of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd., dated October 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 1, 2009, filed with the SEC on October 7, 2009).

33 Bye-Laws of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd., dated July 14, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated October 1, 2009, filed with the SEC on October 7, 2009).

4.1 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 30, 2008, by and between TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp.
and Riata Management, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
December 30, 2008, filed with the SEC on January 6, 2009).

4.2 Common Share Purchase Warrant, dated December 30, 2008, by and between TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp. and Longfellow
Energy, LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 30, 2008, filed
with the SEC on January 6, 2009).

4.3 Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 22, 2009, by and between TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp., Dalea Partners, LP and
Canaccord Capital Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
June 22, 2009, filed with the SEC on June 25, 2009).

4.4 Registration Rights Agreement, dated November 5, 2009, by and between TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd., Dalea Partners, LP and
Canaccord Capital Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
November 24, 2009, filed with the SEC on November 24, 2009).

= 1nion o eby regarding validity of common shares (1ncorporate reference to Exhibit 5.1 to the Company s Registration
5.1%%  Opinion of Appleby regarding validity of hares (incorporated by ref Exhibit 5.1 to the Company s Registrati
Statement on Form S-1, filed with the SEC on December 23, 2009).

10.1 Service Agreement, effective as of May 1, 2008, by and among TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp., Longfellow Energy, LP, Viking
Drilling, LLC, Longe Energy Limited and Riata Management, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 6, 2008, filed with the SEC on February 12, 2009).

10.2
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Amendment to Service Agreement, effective as of October 1, 2008, by and among TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp., Longfellow
Energy, LP, Viking Drilling, LLC, Longe Energy Limited, MedOil Supply LLC and Riata Management, LLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 6, 2008, filed with the SEC on February 12,
2009).

10.3 Executive Employment Agreement, effective July 1, 2005, by and between TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp. and Scott C. Larsen
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company s Registration Statement on Form 20-F, filed with the SEC on October 9,
2007).

10.4 Management Agreement, effective April 1, 2006, by and between TransAtlantic Worldwide, Ltd. and Charles Management, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company s Registration Statement on Form 20-F, filed with the SEC on October 9,
2007).

Index to Financial Statements 113



Edgar Filing: TRANSATLANTIC PETROLEUM LTD. - Form POS AM

Tabl

Index

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

nien

Financial men

Participating Interest Agreement, effective July 11, 2005, by and among TransAtlantic Worldwide Ltd., TransAtlantic Petroleum
Corp. and Scott C. Larsen (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company s Registration Statement on Form 20-F, filed
with the SEC on October 9, 2007).

Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan (2006) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company s Registration Statement
on Form 20-F, filed with the SEC on October 9, 2007).

Warrant Indenture, dated December 1, 2006, by and between TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp. and Computershare Trust Company of
Canada (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company s Registration Statement on Form 20-F, filed with the SEC on
October 9, 2007).

Investment Agreement, dated March 28, 2008, by and between TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp. and Riata Management, LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 20-F, filed with the SEC on May 14, 2008).

Executive Employment Agreement, effective January 1, 2008, by and between TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp. and Jeffrey S. Mecom
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 20-F, filed with the SEC on May 14, 2008).

Executive Employment Agreement, effective May 1, 2008, by and between TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp. and Hilda Kouvelis
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 20-F, filed with the SEC on May 14, 2008).

Form of Common Share Purchase Warrant, dated April 2, 2009, by and between TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp. and holders of
options to purchase shares of Incremental Petroleum Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on May 27, 2009).

TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp. 2009 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from Appendix B to the Definitive Proxy
Statement filed by TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp. with the SEC on April 30, 2009).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated June 16, 2009, filed with the SEC on June 22, 2009).

Form of Share Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Company s Registration Statement on Form S-8,
filed with the SEC on November 2, 2009).

Credit Agreement among DMLP, Ltd., Talon Exploration, Ltd., TransAtlantic Turkey, Ltd. and TransAtlantic Exploration
Mediterranean International Pty. Ltd., as borrowers, Incremental Petroleum (Selmo) Pty. Ltd., TransAtlantic Worldwide, Ltd.,
TransAtlantic Petroleum (USA) Corp. and TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd., as guarantors, the lenders party thereto from time to time,
and Standard Bank PLC, as LC issuer, administrative agent, collateral agent and technical agent, dated as of December 21, 2009
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company s Amendment No. 1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K/A dated
December 21, 2009, filed with the SEC on January 7, 2010).
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21.1 Subsidiaries of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
SEC on March 31, 2010).

23.1%* Consent of KPMG.

23.2% Consent of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

23.3% Consent of DeGolyer and MacNaughton.

23.4%% Consent of Appleby (included in legal opinion filed as Exhibit 5.1).

24.1 Power of attorney (included on signature page of the Company s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-163976) filed on
December 23, 2009).
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Management contract or compensatory plan arrangement
* Filed herewith.
**  Previously filed.
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